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This Annual Report is dedicated to The Legal Aid Society's employees whose names are listed here.
Sarah Abdelmessih, Daniel Abdul-Malak, Charlene Abney, Anita Aboagye-Agyeman, Benjie Acunis, Arielle Adams, Lindsay Adams, Nakiyyah Adams, Melissa Ader, Daniel Ades, Toyin Adesina, David Affler, Ashley
Agosto, Gabriella Agranat-Getz, Alena Aguilar, Maria Aguilar-Ambrossi, Felicia Agyapong, Jacqueline Ahearn, Bina Ahmad, Noor Ahmad, Zachary Ahmad, Zohra Ahmed, Paul Ahn, Greta Aiken, Gregory Ajose, Diane
Akerman, Akintunde Akinjiola, Shivani Alamo, Fatima Albaine, Natalie Albert, Michael Alcarese, Myra Alcarese, Elizabeth Alcocer-Gonzalez, Rita Alejandro, Anju Alexander, Jean Alexandre, Gary Alexion, Ronald
Alfano, Marianne Allegro, Melinda Allen, Zoe Allen, Steve Alonso, Juan Alonzo, Charles Alvarez, Carla Alvarez-Gould, Brett Amelkin, Chelsey Amelkin, Sharon Anderson, Tareek Anderson, Melinda Andra, Cheryl
Andrada, Pamela Andrescavage, Kaitlin Andrews, Nefertiti Ankra, Carmine Annunziato, Bahar Ansari, Kenneth Ansley, Odessa Antoine, Ikenna Anyoku, Ruth Appadoo-Johnson, Israel Appel, Rigodis Appling, Noha
Arafa, Rumzi Araj, Danielle Arbogast, Jimmy Arias, Jonathan Arias, Tarini Arogyaswamy, Marisol Arriaga, Jessica Arroyo, William Artus, Rachel Asher, Daniel Ashworth, Richard Asphall, Nicole Attara, Edward Auffant,
Lynda Augente, Quincy Auger, Germaine Auguste, Laurie Auguste, Schency Augustin, Garrett Austin, Joseph Austin, Elenor Austrie, Ilana Avital, Alan Axelrod, Jose Ayala, Maria Ayora, Shahar Azoulay, Alisha Bacchus,
Jaime Badia, Leslie Baez, Susan Bahn, Bartholomew Baily, Lejla Bajrami, Allison Baker, Japheth Baker, Crystal Baker-Burr, Michael Baldwin, Vanda Ballard, Kelly Ballinger, Sunita Balwant, Marla Band, Erin Bannister,
Michael Baptiste, Priscilla Barbot, Chennette Barreto, Eric Barreto, Elizabeth Barroso, Kellsie Barton, Jessica Bash, Kip Bastedo, Erika Basurto, Patricia Bath, Deyalyn Batista Rijo, Carlos Baxter, Lizzie-Anne Beal, Hayat
Bearat, Raymond Beauchamp, Sakeena Beaulieu, Marc Beck, Faith Bekermus, Kharis Belgrave, Lara Belkin, Christine Bella, Valerie Bell-Bey, Jessica Bellinder, Bernard Bellinger, Ruthlyn Belnavis, Amanda Beltran,
Zamir Ben-Dan, Elizabeth Bender, Joshua Benjamin, Fredric Bennett, Timothy Bennett, Michelle Benoit, Judyann Bentick, Victoria Benton, Allison Berger, Mark Berger, Juan Beritan, Steven Berko, Jeffrey Berman,
Jerrold Berman, Simone Berman-Rossi, James Bernal, Athena Bernkopf, Sara Bernstein, Shari Bernstein, Lillian Berrios, Samuel Berroa, Marvis Berry, Rebecca Besdin, Toni Beshara, Jennifer Betancourt, Jessica
Bettencourt, Pavel Beyder, Andrea Bible, Robert Bickel, Charles Billups, Nicole Bingham, Carly Bisceglie, Bridgette Bissonnette, Elizabeth Black, Rachel Black, Shannon Blackman, Charles Blakeley, Letticia Blakley,
Faith Bland, Sarah Bland, Jennifer Blasser, Isaac Bloch, David Blondell, Martin Blondet, Evan Bloom, Jeffrey Bloom, Richard Blum, Joshua Blumenfeld, Sarah Bodack, Marlen Bodden, Richard Bodrick, Milica Bogetic,
Anna Boksenbaum, Thomas Bomba, Kanika Booker, David Boone, Markus Borus, David Bosler, Heidi Bota, Eugene Bowen, Norah Bowler, Laura Boyd, Precious Boyd, Louis Bracco, Katherine Bradley, Heidi Bramson,
Adrienne Branch, Jacqueline Braslow, Jenny Braun Friedman, Edward Braunstein, Bonnie Brennan, Kathleen Brennan, John Brewer, Suroujlal Bridgelal, Jennifer Brillante-Weaver, Mitchell Briskey, Amanda Brito,
Kissa Broadie, Leslie Brody, Nicole Bromberg, J Brooks, William Brosh, Bailee Brown, Georgina Brown, Jasmine Brown, Karene Brown, Lisa Brown, Malia Brown, Nathaniel Brown, Nickeysha Brown, Terrance Brown,

Gretchen Brownscheidle, Kristin Bruan, Aishah Bruno, Katherine Buckel, Jessica Buckelew,
Arthur Buckley, Brian Buckmire, Rosemary Buckmon, Robert Budner, Desiree Buenzle, Laura
Bull, Roulston Bumbury, Vanessa Burdick, Benjamin Burger, Kelsey Burgess, Regina Burgio,
Carmen Burgos, Jessica Burgos, Julia Burke, Jamaal Burnside, Thomas Burrows, Katherine
Burton, Helene Busby, Claudia Bustos, Barbara Byrne, Johan Byssainthe, Janera Caba, Luis
Caballero, Danny Cabrera, Mario Cabrera, Rosa Cabrera, Yissel Cabrera, Karen Cacace, Keri
Caden, Genevieve Cahill, Garrett Cain, Heidi Cain, Kristen Calabrese, Elisabeth Calcaterra,
Raisa Calderon, Reinaldo Calderon, Ioana Calin, Anne Callagy, Jean Callahan, Glenda Callender,
Courtney Camp, Sonia Cancel, Clayton Capp, Catherine Carbonaro, Danielle Anne Cardona,
Matthew Caretto, Anna Carlsen, Alec Carmon, Helena Carmona, William Carney, Christian

Carrillo, Joshua Carrin, Mae Carrington, Roger Carrion, Nora S.C. Carroll, Amanda Carter, Ashley Carter, Carol Carter, Bernette Carway-Spruiell, Marilyn Casiano, Iris Castellanos, Sabrina Castillo, Ana Castillo-Bernabel,
Emilie Catlett, Teresa Caturano, Ana Cecilio, Hannah Ceja, Yohance Celestine, Gordon Cen, Ferdinand Cesarano, Lura Chamberlain, Cara Chambers, Denise Chardon, Richard Charney, Susan Chase, Abida Chaudhry,
Steven Chavez, Jonathan Chazen, Brian Chelcun, Shiyun Chen, Hung Kong Cheng, Wai-Hong Cheng, Vanessa Cherena, Hillary Chernow, Andrea Cherry, Jenny Cheung, Rebecca Chevalier, Andrew Chi, Toe-Fun Chia,
Mourad Chiadmi, Andrew Childers, Samuel Chiszar, Maria Chiu, Jamie Chosak, James Chubinsky, Jasmina Chuck, Javier Chuck, Vincent Ciaccio, Julie Ciccolini, Erica Cioffero, Rachel Clapp, David Clarke, Gregory Clarke,
Kimar Clarke, Lucinda Clarke, Nichole Clarke, Thomas Cleary, Charli Cleland, Olivia Clement, Susan Clement, Vilma Clerge, Samantha Clifford, Kawan Clinton, Bryan Coakley, Bobby Codjoe, Antonia Codling, Thomas
Coffey, Janet Cofie, Dana Cohen, Emily Cohen, Matthew Cohen, Jennifer Cohn, Dylan Colbert, Patricia Colella, Carolyn Coleman, Rebekah Coleman, Alexander Collins, Tara Collins, Esperanza Colon, Francisco Colon,
Maria Colon, Joann Colon-Cimino, Nolan Comfort, Johari Commodore, Irena Como, Carlo Concha-Zea, Kalle Condliffe, David Conn, Charles Conroy, Virginia Conroy, Cynthia Conti-Cook, Claudia Conway, Felton Cooper,
Jayne Cooper, Virginia Cora, Marisol Cordero, Melissa Cordero, Stephanie Cordero, Shemori Corinthian, Jeriline Correa, Shelley Correy, Alyssa Cose-Primus, Jona Cosio, Antoinette Costanzo, Aiden Cotter, Jose Cotto,
William Cotto, Safiatou Coulibaly, Tara Coury, Joyce Couvares, Jessica Crafton, Russell Crane, Daniela Crespo, Susan Crile, Amy Cross, Ellen Crotty, David Crow, Victor Cruz, Juanita Cruz-Cataquet, Gaynor Cunningham,
Leeanne Cunningham, Meghan Cuomo, Lauren Curatolo, Seth Curkin, Thomas Curtis, Esmeralda Daci, Marjan Daftary, Lawrence Dahl, Mark Dahm, Amy Dallas, Casey Dalporto, Teresa Daly, Maria Dambriunas, Michael
D'Ambrosio, Maria D'Amelio, Michael D'Angelis, Asmika Dangol, Olayinka Dan-Salami, Dawn Dapelo, Erin Darcy, Clineesa Dargan, Alaina Dartt, Kwesi Dash, Shashwat Dave, Nicki Davey, Dilsa David, Jacques David,
Ellen Davidson, Jeremy Davidson, Rachel Davidson, Terence Davidson, Edgar Davila, Nora Davila, Patricia Davis, Sol Davis, Yasmin Davis, Gianna Davis-Diggs, Peter Day, Maria D'Costa, Teresa De Fonso, Adrian De
Gennaro, Jason De Jesus, Melissa De Jesus, Nelson De Jesus, Tania De La Cruz, Susanna De La Pava, Jennys De La Rosa, Khadine De Paiva, Katherine De Zengotita, Warren Deans, Deborah Dearth, Aurore DeCarlo,
Natalie Deduke, Gerard Deenihan, Lina Del Plato, Carmen Del Valle, Stanley Delacruz, Amy Delauter, Benjamin Dell, Mark DellAquila, Jeffrey Dellheim, Christine Dell'isloa-Ruggiero, Rostislav Denisov, Lonette
Dennard-Williams, Karena Dennis, George Depountis, Robert Desir, Daniel DeStefano, Godline Deterville, Sneha Dhanapal, Emily Di Biase, Richard Di Marco, Deborah Diamant, Jesse Diamond, Patricia Diaz, Samantha
Diaz, Yonoris Diaz, Ada DiCarlo, Laurel Dick, Jill Dickinson, Jessica Diep, Claudia Diez, Yvonne Dillard, Ellen Dille, Clay Distler, Femi Disu-Oakley, Anton Ditchev, Celena Ditchev, Brittany Dixon, Vernon Dixon, Lucretia
Dobson, Sarah Dolan, Jacqueline Dombroff, Michelle Domena, Madeline Domenech, Julie Dona, Mary Donahue, Lisa Donchak, Lauren Donnelly, Amy Donner, Francis Donovan, Melodie Donovan, Ian Dooley, Zachary
Dorado, Nicole D'Orazio, Patricia Dornelles, Cassandra Dorvil, Felicia Douglas, Kisha Douglas, Lisa Dowda, Hilary Dowling, Graham Drake, Brooke Drew, Elaine Ducasse, Monica Dula, Michelle Duprey, Marisol Duran,
LeShawn Earl, Tristan-Paul Eastman, Emily Eaton, Susan Edelstein, Lisa Edwards, Marcia Egger, Charles Ehlers, Felicia Ehrlich, Kerry Elgarten, LaShawnda Elliott, Whitney Elliott, Julia Elmaleh-Sachs, Claudia Emanuel,
Uchenna Emeagwali, Theresa Emeterio, Elizabeth Emmons, Susan Epstein, Brian Escaravage, Lourdes Escobar, Luis Escoboza, Rosemary Esperanza-Alvarez, Cristian Espinal, Mitchell Paolo Esteller, Rudolph Estrada,
Juan Estremera, Belinda Etienne, Sarah Evans-DeVita, Dwan Ewell, Denise Fabiano, Morenike Fajana, Allen Fallek, Tara Famularo-Del Bianco, Karen Faraguna, Allen Farbman, Anthony Farley, Emily Farquharson,
Lisa Farray, Trelinda Farrer, Sean Farrow, Briana Fedele, Elysia Fedorczyk, Rebecca Fein, Martin Feinman, Elizabeth Felber, Harold Ferguson, Sheilah Fernandez, Joan Ferng, Ana Ferrin, Craig Fielding, Leanne Fields,
Stephanie Fields, Michael Figura, Japel Filiaci, Marisa Filupeit, Andrew Fine, Oscar Finkel, Kenneth Finkelman, Joseph Fiore, Sofia Fiorentino, Cheryl Fisher, Katherine Fitzer, Andrea Fiume, Phillip Fleary, Golda
Fleischman, Vera Fletcher, Caleb Fleurant, Elisa Flight, Husein Flight, Aaron Flores, Diana Flores, Doris Flores, Josephine Flores, Richard Flores, Yvonne Floyd-Mayers, Alexis Flyer, Megan Foley, Edna Fonfrias, Zoraida
Fontanez, Andrew Ford, Jacqueline Ford, Hamilton Forde, Jasmine Foreman, Kimberly Forte, Izel Fortunato, Ebette Fortune, Natasha Fortune, Omar Fortune, Allan Fox, Jane Fox, Michelle Fox, Norma Frade, Brittany
Francis, Grover Francis, Keisha Francis, Christina Francois, Ariel Franjul, Robin Frankel, Diane Fraticelly, Angel Frau, Demetra Frazier, Jeremy Fredericksen, Lisa Freeman, Daniela Freemole, Diego Freire, Monique
Frempong-Manso, Samantha Fried, Helen Frieder, Oda Friedheim, Bruce Friedman, David Friedman, Melissa Friedman, David Fritz, Catherine Frizell, Julie Fry, Lenore Furlong, Angel Gabriel, George Gabriel, Margaret
Gaffney, Allison Galgano, Frances Gallagher, Mona Gambardella, Debra Gambella, Alyssa Gamliel, Rachel Ganani, Romy Ganschow, Adrienne Gantt, Amanda Garay, Belkys Garcia, Felipe Garcia, Harinda Garcia, Jessica
Garcia, Juan Garcia, Laureen Garcia, Maria Garcia, Mily Garcia, Omar Garcia, Grey Gardner, Jonathan Garelick, Melvin Garlick, Margaret Garrett, Jennai Gaskin, Samuel Gauthier, Sekeena Gavagan, Matthew Gay,
Findayawah Gbollie, Emily Gell, Gail Geltman, Melissa George, Ulex George, Diego Gerardi, Carmen Gerardo, Logan Germick, Debbora Gerressu, Samuel Getz, Ronjon Ghosh, Francis Gibbons, Michael Gibbons, William
Gibney, Julia Gilgurd, Sarah Gillman, Nancy Ginsburg, Ernest Giordani, Celia Givens, Monica Givens, Tamara Giwa, Pashke Gjini, Hannah Gladstein, Zoe Glaser, Radley Glaude, Caroline Glickler, Charles Glover, Michael
Gluck, Aline Gnali, Steven Godeski, Keisha Godfrey, Yesenia Godoy, Lily Goetz, Benjamin Gold, Bonnie Goldburg, Steven Golden, Joshua Goldfein, Judith Goldiner, Ariella Goldstein, Cathy Goldstein, Jessica Goldthwaite,
Chandra Gomes, Michael Gompers, Eos Gonzalez Sanchez, Aurea Gonzalez, Eva Gonzalez, Rolando Gonzalez, Emma Goodman, Jaclyn Goodman, Roberto Goodsell, Robin Gordon Leavitt, Alan Gordon, Derick Gordon,
Ramona Gordon, Tiffany Gordon, Martin Gorfinkel, Shilpy Goswami, Lauren Gottesman, Mihaela Gough, Maxwell Gould, Vincent Graci, Holly Graham, Maya Graham, Anthony Graniere, Herbert Grant, Sulay Grant,
James Graves, Barbara Graves-Poller, Donald Gray, Jerome Greco, Donella Green, Marshall Green, Russell Green, Daniel Greenbaum, Camille Greene, Naima Gregory-Holder, Laura Gretz, Catherine Griffin, Nadine
Griffin, Shannon Griffin, Pamela Griffith, Seth Gross, Gerald Grossman, Jennifer Grosso, Nidia Guadalupe, Yoedys Guerrero De Shekhman, David Guerrero, Saly Guirguis, Nailah Gumbs-Fahie, Yosha Gunasekera,
Samantha Gupta, Laurence Gurwitch, Karen Gutheil, Clinton Guthrie, Laura Guthrie, Phillip Guttmann, Donna Haase, Joshua Hadas, Jason Hadley, Melissa Hafenbrack, William Hair, Juliette-Noor Haji, Alexandra
Hakim, Hanifa Hakim-EL, Larry Hales, Reginald Haley, Madeline Halimi, Coleen Hall, Karen Hamberlin, Tima Hambleton, Karen Hambrick, Alayasia Hamilton, Barbara Hamilton, Matthew Hanifin, Michael Harding,
Kathleen Hardy, Robert Harold, Elon Harpaz, Davina Harris, Donjhannae Harris, Judith Harris, Alissa Harrison, Caitlin Harrison, Lisa Hart, Peter Hart, Jacqualine Hartley, Bryn Hartman, Mallory Harwood, Nadia Hasan,
Hajar Hasani, Evan Hasbrook, Amira Hassan, Jo-Ann Hassan, Adam Hassuk, Allison Haupt, Michele Hauser, Amy Hausknecht, Lawrence Hausman, Matthew Hawkins, Wanjuri Hawkins, Henry Hayden, Oren Haymovits,
Renee Haynes, Robert Haywood, Lauren Headley, Christopher Healy, Mattie Heath, Kathryn Heeke, Robert Heilbrun, Alexandra Heinegg, Rebecca Heinsen, Lester Helfman, Charles Henderson, Donna Henken, Marva
Henry, Kathryn Hensley, Maoly Hernandez Rosario, Alba Hernandez, Ariel Hernandez, Luis Hernandez, Sordaly Hernandez, Wilmarie Hernandez, Lucy Herschel, Nikki Herst-Cook, Adam Heyman, Elizabeth Hibbard,
Michael Higgins, Anne Hill, Kwandza Hill-Daniels, Angela Hines, Shazzia Hines, Kevin Hinkson, John Hirsch, Nell Hirschmann-Levy, Barbara Ho, Yvonne Hobbs, Carol Hochberg, Fuery Hocking, Beth Hofmeister, Adriene
Holder, Macon Hollister, Bridgett Holloman, Jacqueline Holmes, Linda Holmes, Deno Holness, Alison Holstein, Michael Homan-Gray, Amy Hong, Everett Hopkins, Matthew Hopkins, Arthur Hopkirk, Albert Hor,
Jacqueline Horani, Davim Horowitz, Dylan Horowitz, Gwyneth Horton, Susan Horwitz, Imtiaz Hossain, Shalena Howard, Samuel Howell, Mary Hoynacki, Charmaine Hoyte, Daniel Hsiung, Caroline Hsu, Yvonne
Huaringa, Tyler Hudgins, Christopher Hudson, Nyiesha Hudson, Clinton Hughes, Kevin Hughes, Patience Hughes, Michael Hurson, Jenny Hurwitz, Katharine Hussung, David Hymen, Andrea Ibrahim, Amanda Ingle,
Natasha Ingram, Gregory Insardi, Vivian Intermont, Charles Ippolito, Brittany Irving, Elizabeth Isaacs, Svetlana Isakov, Kenneth Ives, Rebecca Ivry, Richard Jack, Lisa Jackson, Lois Jackson, Rosemarie Jackson, Alex
Jacobs, Michelle Jacobs, Rosa Jaffe, Kesha Jagdeo, Seymour James Jr., Anika James, Taylor James, Mike Jang, Masooma Javaid, Jennifer Jean, Leviworks Jean, Christina Jeffery, Cornelius Jeffery, Patricia Jeffery, Lance
Jeffrey, Willoughby Jenett, Randy Jerez, Kam Jim, Gisell Jimenez, Eartha Jn Baptiste, Sunny Jo, Clyde Johnson, Jamal Johnson, Loretta Johnson, Marquita Johnson, Nadine Johnson, Nesta Johnson, Surraya Johnson,
Tajuana Johnson, Thomas Johnson, Travis Johnson, Diane Johnston, Gregory Johnston, Sarah Johnston, Danielle Jones, Donovan Jones, LaSalle Jones, Peter Jones, Willie Jones, Kelsey Jorgensen, Richard Joselson,
Gina Joseph, Jennifer Joseph, Satish Joseph, Maria Joza, Afeisha Julien, Judy Jun, Siri Kagan, Douglas Kahan, Maria Kaidas, Karen Kalikow, John Kalinowski, Anna Kalliagas, Carolyn Kalos, James Kampil, Melissa
Kanas, Sandeep Kandhari, Aylese Kanze, Emily Kaplan, Hannah Kaplan, Jan Kaplan, Kathryn Kaplan, Melissa Kaplan, Stephanie Kaplan, David Kapner, Carmel Kappus, Robin Karasyk, Najeela Karimi, Sheryl Karp,
Judith Karpatkin, Dena Kasendorf, Andrew Katz, Mitchell Katz, Lauren Katzman, Zachary Katznelson, Kathleen Kavanagh, Rebecca Kavanagh, Noel Keating, Kathleen Kelleher, Maureen Kelleher, Brian Kelly,

1,200 of the brightest legal minds work with
750 social workers, investigators, paralegals and
support and administrative staff.
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1THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

Proudly serving New Yorkers
in all five boroughs of New York City.

The nation’s oldest and largest not-for-profit legal services organization is more than a
law firm for poor New Yorkers.  It is an indispensable component of the legal, social,
and economic fabric of New York City – passionately advocating for low-income

individuals and families across a variety of civil, criminal and juvenile rights matters, while
also fighting for legal reform.

The Legal Aid Society has performed this role in City, State and federal courts since 1876.  It
does so by harnessing the diverse expertise, experience, and capabilities of nearly 1,200
lawyers and approximately 750 social workers, investigators, paralegals and support and
administrative staff.  Through a network of borough, neighborhood, and courthouse offices
in 27 locations in New York City, the Society provides comprehensive legal services in all five
boroughs of New York City for clients who cannot afford to pay for private counsel.  The
Society’s legal program operates three major practices – Civil, Criminal and Juvenile Rights –
and receives volunteer help from law firms, corporate law departments and expert
consultants that is coordinated by the Society’s Pro Bono program.  Annually, the Society
handles more than 300,000 cases and legal matters for clients with civil, criminal, and
juvenile rights problems.  The Legal Aid Society takes on more cases for more clients than
any other legal services organization in the United States.  And it brings a depth and breadth
of perspective that is unmatched in the legal profession.

The Legal Aid Society’s unique value is an ability to go beyond any one case to create more
equitable outcomes for individuals and broader, more powerful systemic change for society
as a whole.  In addition to the annual caseload of more than 300,000 individual cases and
legal matters, the Society’s law reform work benefits some two million low-income families
and individuals in New York City and the landmark rulings in many of these cases have a
Statewide and national impact.
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2 THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

Imagine 15 million people in
New York City given a new
lease on life, a second chance,

an opportunity to obtain the
American dream.  Call it what
you will—a safety net, a game
changer.  The Legal Aid Society
has been all that and more to 15
million New Yorkers who needed
our help.  And this year, our
140th, we have reached that

incredible benchmark – 15 million New Yorkers assisted by
The Legal Aid Society.

As an organization founded to assist German immigrants,
the Society’s annual reports in the early years logged what
countries were represented by how many people.  By 1896,
the name was changed from the German Legal Aid
Society to The Legal Aid Society to reflect the expansion
of service to all in need. That year, the Society served 7,473
immigrants from 37 countries. Today, the Society
represents tens of thousands of immigrants from all over
the globe and in the last year obtained interpreters for
clients in 57 different languages. We are extremely proud
of our immigration practice, a recognized leader in the
delivery of comprehensive and high caliber immigration
legal services from deportation defense to adjustment of
status to legal permanent residence and citizenship
applications. Our services are sought and supported by
government officials, private foundations, community
organizations, and the judiciary.

The Society’s extensive experience, our ties with the
immigrant community, our presence in every borough of
New York City, and our reputation as a preeminent
provider of legal services including immigration legal
services, have brought immigrants from all five boroughs
to seek the Society’s immigration, employment, and
family law and domestic violence legal services. In
addition, the Society’s extensive collaborations and
linkages with community-based organizations that serve
immigrant communities ensure that outreach is
conducted in the targeted community districts. The
Society has and will continue to provide outreach, case
management, training, and technical assistance to
organizations across New York City that serve immigrants
from countries across the globe. 

We are extremely proud of our work on behalf of
immigrants. But there is no truer picture of contemporary
life in New York City than the descriptions of our
expansive services in the Criminal, Juvenile, and Civil
Practices that help our clients to cope with the complex

and serious problems that confront them.  We represent
the rights of the most marginalized and disenfranchised
in society. We assist 90% of the children who appear in
the Family Court facing life-altering issues.  In our Civil
Practice alone, we represent tens of thousands of clients
on issues whose resolution can be life-changing .

Our Attorney-in-Chief Seymour W. James has chronicled
the tremendous work accomplished for our clients by our
incredible staff.  His report begins on page 7 and is a
tribute to the women and men of The Legal Aid Society
who make the impossible possible every day.  This annual
report is dedicated to them.  Special mention must be
made of our Practice heads: Tina Luongo, Attorney-in-
Charge of the Criminal Practice; Adriene Holder, Attorney-
in-Charge of the Civil Practice, and Tamara Steckler,
Attorney-in-Charge of the Juvenile Rights Practice. 

The accomplishments of The Legal Aid Society would not
be possible without our partners—the Sustaining Law
Firms who give so generously both financially and
through their pro bono efforts.  Every major law reform
case has a Sustaining Law Firm partner.  We are grateful
for their dedication and commitment.  The Honorable
Janet DiFiore, Chief Judge of the State of New York,
honored us by speaking at our annual Pro Bono Award
Ceremony and presenting the awards to our Pro Bono
partners who volunteer their time and talents
representing our clients.  Special thanks to Louis Sartori,
the Director of our Pro Bono Practice.

Last year, I wrote about the 10th anniversary of the
Society’s major, dramatic, financial, and managerial
turnaround including a total restructuring of the Society’s
finances. We emerged a much stronger, better managed
institution with a renewed spirit and a commitment for
the future and, I am proud to say, we became the Gold
Standard for not for profit legal services organizations.
With that in mind, we have been discussing the need for a
strategic plan.  We have been engaged in a process to
create a five-year strategic plan that sets out our goals and
aspiration for the coming years. In this process, we spoke
with staff members across roles, boroughs, practices and
ALAA and 1199, as well as Board members, to gather input
on what was most important for the Society, its services
to clients, law reform in New York City, and how the Society
works internally.  We spoke with stakeholders outside the
organization to understand the role the Society currently
plays in New York City, and how we could increase our
impact.  Senior leadership and the Strategic Plan Steering
Team worked with a consultant over six months gathering
data, conducting other research, and crafting a direction
for the Society over the next five years.

REPORT OF THE CHAIRPERSON
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3THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

REPORT OF THE CHAIRPERSON (continued)
As an outcome of this work, an ambitious set of major
focus areas for The Legal Aid Society for the next five years
will be to:

●  Maintain the Society’s leadership position in
indigent legal services across all three practices

●  Continue to play  a crucial role in law reform
●  Seek to offer more comprehensive services to

clients across practices
●  Increase the Society’s profile amongst clients, the

general public and current and potential funders
●  Increase administrative and operational support

for the Society to make internal operations run
more smoothly

●  Enhance technology, including mobile and web
technology to support staff work and client
interaction

The Board of Directors exemplifies the special relationship
the Society has with New York’s legal and business
communities.  Our members are drawn from the most
prominent law firms, corporate law departments, and law
schools in the nation.  Special thanks to the Chairs of the
various Board committees including Jonathan B. Whitney

(Audit); Daniel F. Kolb (Development); Douglas F. Curtis
(Finance and Investment);  Thomas M. Cerabino and Mel
M. Immergut (Nominating and Governance); Noah Hanft
and Pamela Miller (Practice Support); Bradley I. Ruskin
(Real Estate); Mark P. Goodman (Retirement and Benefits);
and Randy Mastro (Strategic Planning and
Communications).

No report would be complete without a special mention
of our beloved President, Fin Fogg.  His humor, his wisdom,
his thoughtfulness, and his brilliance sustain us and make
us strong.  I have grown accustomed to his frequent all-
times-of-the-day-or-night emails filled with great ideas
from Fin.  

The third member of our team, Seymour James, is a
proven leader as our Attorney-in-Chief, the person who
holds it all together.  

During the coming year, we hope to continue to earn your
support.

Richard J. Davis
Chairman
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4 THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT

This was an exciting year for
The Legal Aid Society.  We
broke new ground by

winning necessary health care
services for specific client
populations; we looked to the
future by creating a strategic
five-year-plan which will bring
us forward as one of New York
City’s major not for profits; and
we faced many challenges

inherent with the dramatic expansion of our Civil Practice. 

We continue to be the principal public defender for New
York City and have pushed hard for transparency in the
NYPD to mend relations between the police and client
communities.  We are a national leader in juvenile rights
and serve as a major voice advocating for the proper
treatment of children. Our Civil Practice helps people
acquire and maintain access to life’s essentials, such as
housing, health care, education and subsistence income.
Our comprehensive range of advocacy for these
necessities – which runs from individual case work to
litigation for systemic change – steadies the lives of our
clients, their families and communities. 

Founded in 1876 to provide legal assistance to immigrants,
The Legal Aid Society has treasured this role for 140 years,
expanding its services and adapting its procedures to the
changing needs of our immigrant clients.  With the advent
of a new Administration in Washington which has
threatened to deport or jail between two and three
million immigrants with some criminal history and
establish a registry of Muslims, The Legal Aid Society
responded immediately to the fears and needs of its
immigrant client communities by offering a series of
informational forums throughout the five boroughs.  The
first, which was a huge success,  was held November 17 at
which 200 people came to hear representatives from our
three Practices speak about what to do if the police or ICE
attempt to arrest you;  about the rights of parents and
children in the school system and how to set up a
guardianship if parents are facing deportation and want
to set up an emergency plan for their children; and about
the various immigration forms of relief, programs and
what we believe the new administration will do. One of
the major roles  our Board of Directors may face is to raise
the necessary funds to help combat any unconstitutional
or illegal actions by the new Administration.

We are blessed with an exceptional Board of Directors led
by Rich Davis, our Chairperson, and an outstanding staff
with Seymour James at the helm.

Special thanks to our Practice heads Tina Luongo
(Criminal), Adriene Holder (Civil) and Tami Steckler (JRP).
Our Pro Bono Practice, headed by Lou Sartori, is the
nation’s largest and most effective.

Our 2017 recipients of the Servant of Justice Award will be
Sara E. Moss, the Executive Vice President and General

Counsel of The Estee Lauder Companies Inc., and Marc
Wolinsky, partner at Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz.  This
year will be the first year that we hold the dinner at
Cipriani 42nd Street. 

During this last year, the Society suffered a terrible loss with
the passing of Sandra Scott, our beloved Chief Financial
Officer on July 1 after a valiant struggle against cancer. We
miss her tremendous sense of humor, her warm spirit and
her commitment to excellence.  Her courage, integrity and
dedication will serve as her legacy and continue to inspire
us. At the celebration of Sandra Scott’s life Rich Davis, our
Chairperson, announced the creation of the Sandra Scott
Award for Excellence to honor her  memory and to recognize
the dedication and outstanding achievement of our non-
lawyer Central Administration staff.  Rich will announce the
first recipient of the Sandra Scott Award for Excellence at
our 140th Annual Meeting.

Each year, I have the privilege of announcing the recipients
of the Orison S. Marden Awards, presented each year to
members of the Legal Aid staff to recognize their excellent
service and commitment.  The awards honor Orison S.
Marden who dedicated his life to helping others and
served as Chairman of the Society for many years.  The
2016 winners were chosen by their colleagues from
among many nominations.

The recipients of the 2016 Marden Award for
Management Attorneys are Jonathan Chasan, a
Supervising Attorney in the Prisoners’ Rights Project, who
had initiated law suits against the city regarding the
abuse of prisoners by Correction officers, and Elizabeth
Felber, a Supervising Attorney in the Bronx office of the
Criminal Practice.  Edward Vega, a Staff Attorney in the
Harlem Community Law Office, and Katie Kelleher, a Staff
Attorney in the Civil Practice’s Law Reform Unit, are the
winners of the Staff Attorney Award.

Sandra Scott, the former CFO, will be honored
posthumously, with the Marden Award for non-Attorney
Managers.  Carmen Burgos, the Office Manager in the
Bronx Civil office, will also receive the Marden Award for
non-Attorney Managers.  The Support Staff Marden
Award will be presented to James Pitt, a Paralegal in the
Manhattan Office of the Criminal Practice.

Congratulations to the winners.  We are grateful for your
dedication to The Legal Aid Society and its clients.

As we soon begin a new year, we are faced with many
challenges that will require your support.  We are grateful
for your generous support of The Legal Aid Society and ask
you to help us combat any unconstitutional or illegal
actions by the new Administration. 

Fin Fogg
President
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(Officers and Directors as of June 30, 2016)

Members are drawn from the most prominent law firms,
corporate law departments, and law schools in the nation.
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Lankler Siffert & Wohl LLP
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Winston & Strawn LLP
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SUSTAINING LAW FIRMS

The Legal Aid Society acknowledges  the outstanding support and dedication of the Sustaining Law
Firms. These firms sustain the work of  The Legal Aid Society by contributing at a leadership level
of $600 per attorney in their New York offices.

The support of the Sustaining  Law Firms enables The Legal Aid Society’s Civil Practice to provide legal
representation to the most vulnerable New Yorkers, including: senior citizens, survivors of domestic
violence, persons living with HIV/AIDS, homeless  and immiently homeless families and individuals,
adults and children living with disabilities, immigrants, and low-income wage earners.

The support of the Sustaining Law Firms helps to ensure that poverty is not a barrier to accessing the
justice system.
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“Give me your tired, your poor, Your
huddled masses yearning to
breathe free,”

After leaving their old lives
and crossing rough seas,
these are the words

famously welcoming immigrants
at the Statue of Liberty. The statue
is a beacon in a turbulent world; it
embodies freedom and equality.

Every day, The Legal Aid Society works to make this powerful
symbol’s ideals a reality for everyone it serves. These ideals
inspired our work when the organization was created 140
years ago to help German immigrants. While our reach
evolved long ago to represent others unable to afford an
attorney, our commitment to these very same principles has
gone undiminished.

In the courts, in communities and across the nation, The Legal
Aid Society is a tenacious advocate fighting to secure access
to justice for the poor.  Our clients live in communities where
poverty threatens to close off opportunities and make legal
protections illusory. Every day, low-income New Yorkers face
legal actions that can deprive them of life’s essentials, take
away their liberty and alter their future.  We fight for them
with skilled, zealous court representation and we challenge
the status quo with impact litigation cutting to the core of
underlying inequities.  We also guard against such
deprivations with extensive efforts to educate residents on
their rights and connect them with services. Moreover, we
advocate with policy makers, where our views on the impact
of legislation, policy and legal practices on our clients are
respected and influential. 

In the past year Legal Aid Society staff achieved the following:

●  Won a court victory removing barriers on necessary
healthcare for transgender individuals. 

●  Ensured a disabled woman finally received essential
health services to live safely in her home. 

●  Won criminal cases with DNA and Digital Forensics
Units using cutting-edge research and analysis.

●  Preserved the right to affordable housing,
challenging a major landlord’s refusal to accept rent
vouchers. 

●  Kept pushing for Rikers Island reforms after a
landmark consent decree in our case against staff
brutality.

●  Obtained the exoneration of clients wrongly
convicted decades ago.

●  Successfully fought to reform punitive sanctions
against public assistance recipients. 

●  Fought for greater transparency and accountability
in the New York City Police Department.

●  Sued to safeguard the First Amendment rights of
bystanders recording police activity. 

●  Sued the City to obtain more shelter beds for
homeless youth.

●  Helped minors, asylum seekers and others in the
immigration process. 

●  Filed a federal lawsuit against the state to prevent
sexual abuse of female prisoners by prison guards. 

●  Instituted a bail reform initiative challenging
needless incarceration of people unable to afford
bail. 

●  Launched national training to vindicate trafficking
victims.

The Legal Aid Society has three practices – the Civil, Criminal
and Juvenile Rights Practices – and we represent families and
individuals in every New York City borough who are unable
to afford a lawyer. We appear in state and federal courts, as
well as federal, state and city administrative proceedings. Our
comprehensive advocacy addresses the myriad legal and
social issues confronting our clients. Our breadth lets us
address the central problems in any case, as well as its
collateral effects. 

Founded in 1876, the Society is the nation’s oldest and largest
not-for-profit legal services organization; we take on more
cases for more clients than any other legal services
organization in the United States. A talented and dedicated
staff, consisting of approximately 1,200 attorneys and more
than 750 social workers, investigators, paralegals, support and
administrative staff, handled more than 300,000 matters for
clients with civil, criminal and juvenile rights problems this
year. They are in 27 locations across the five boroughs, making
Legal Aid a presence throughout the city. 

Our Pro Bono Practice strengthens our work. Approximately
3,100 people, mostly  attorneys and other legal professionals
from New York City’s preeminent law firms and corporate law
departments, volunteered their time and expertise to handle
some 3,200 client matters this year. 

Our Criminal and Juvenile Rights Practices are funded by
government, which is legally mandated to provide
representation for our clients. However, our Civil Practice
depends largely on private contributions., along with public
funding for certain programs. Limited resources mean we
cannot assist substantial numbers of New Yorkers in need.
There is always more to be done and we strive to provide legal
assistance to as many people as possible. 

Legal Aid’s work has broad societal consequences. Sometimes,
our advocacy results in a major victory for an individual and
other times we secure fundamental rights for an entire class
of people. This annual report highlights many of these
accomplishments and, at the same time, displays our staff’s
superior talent and commitment to justice for our clients, our
communities and our nation.

Seymour W. James, Jr.
Attorney-in-Chief
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The Civil Practice helps people acquire and
maintain access to life’s essentials, such as
housing, health care, education and subsistence

income. Our comprehensive range of advocacy for
these necessities – which runs from
individual case work to litigation for
systemic change – steadies the lives of our
clients, their families and communities. 

Those represented by the practice are
New York City’s most vulnerable
residents, whose lives can be disrupted
without access to the benefits they
deserve or the redress to which they are
entitled. They include senior citizens,
children and adults with chronic
illnesses and disabilities, domestic
violence survivors, immigrants, low-wage workers,
people living with HIV/AIDS, homeless families and
individuals, or those facing imminent
homelessness. 

The practice’s broad scope is reflected in the breadth
of legal services offered; it is comprised of 22 units
and programs and neighborhood and courthouse-

based offices throughout New York City to reach
clients.  Over the last year we worked on nearly
48,000 individual legal matters benefiting almost
128,000 low-income New Yorkers. In addition, our

active law reform litigation docket of 25
cases impacts the lives of two million low-
income New Yorkers. 

Our comprehensive legal assistance
provides representation in matters
which include housing, homelessness
prevention, consumer law, disability
advocacy, special education support and
services, elder law, employment law,

family law and domestic violence victim
support, foreclosure and home equity
preservation, public assistance, disability-

related assistance, Supplemental Nutrition
Assistance Program (SNAP) benefits, health law,
HIV/AIDS representation, immigration law,
community economic development to enable clients
to move out of poverty, tax law for low-income
workers and re-entry and reintegration for formerly
incarcerated clients returning to their communities. 
Our clients typically come to us after unsuccessfully

THE CIVIL PRACTICE       
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Kimberly Forte, Director of LGBT Law & Policy Initiative, conducts a training session for new attorneys in the Civil Practice. With
her is Jasmina Chuck, a Paralegal in the Unit (inset).

Adriene Holder
Attorney-in-Charge

Civil Practice
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pressing for assistance through other avenues of
support, making our practice the safety net when
others give way. Our clients can come to us directly,
or through referrals from the courts, community
members, social service organizations, elected
officials or government agencies. In addition, other
legal services organizations often refer their clients
to us when they cannot provide all necessary
services, have limited or no case intake capacity, or
do not serve a particular community.  At The Legal
Aid Society, clients find lawyers and support staff
who work together to address their complex needs.

OUR COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH

The Society is able to assist vast numbers of eligible
clients through an effective combination of
individual client representation and law reform
litigation and advocacy.  In addition, the Civil
Practice provides a diverse range of services to New
Yorkers living at or below the poverty level in all five
boroughs of New York City.  These services include
early intervention and prevention initiatives, self-
help community legal education and training,
including Know Your Rights workshops, expert
technical assistance to community groups and
other service providers to avert the need for legal
intervention, comprehensive continuing legal
education programs for the legal services and legal
advocacy community and pro bono initiatives with
the private bar that further leverage our resources
and services. The Know Your Rights workshops
include brochures, videos and training created by
Society staff to help educate New Yorkers about
various important legal matters such as eviction,
family law, consumer rights, and what to do if
stopped by the police.

In addition to traditional office representation, The
Civil Practice provides the following unique civil
legal services program components:

● Satellite outreach sites, evening clinics, our
Mobile Justice Unit (a mobile office driven to
more isolated client communities
throughout the City), and nine telephone
helplines through which we increase access
to legal assistance for working families and
individuals, survivors of domestic violence,
detained immigrants, persons with

disabilities in the shelter system and other
homeless children and adults, uninsured New
Yorkers, persons with managed care access
problems, individuals with chronic illnesses
and disabilities, and senior citizens.

● Expert technical assistance, Know Your Rights
trainings, community legal education, and pro
se materials on a wide range of legal issues for
clients and client groups, the constituent
services staff of elected officials, community-
based organizations, social services providers,
and other legal services programs.

● Continuing legal education programs for
Society staff and the staff members of other
legal services providers, including programs
that offer basic training for civil practitioners
on the collateral civil law consequences of
criminal convictions and individual legal rights
associated with immigration law, employment
law, housing, and government benefits. 

PROTECTING A RIGHT TO SHELTER

There are nearly 60,000 people residing in the
City’s shelter system, and our Homeless Rights
Project is working with the City to find stable
permanent housing for those in need. The City has
agreed that any family with minor children who
does not receive overnight placement or who
receives multiple overnight placements before
being found permanent shelter will be placed
temporarily in a hotel and receive payment as part
of the City’s violation of its own right-to-shelter
placement laws. As a result of our advocacy, no
family with children has yet to be denied overnight
placement when seeking shelter since the
agreement was instituted. Additionally, our
advocacy led the City to reopen referrals from the
shelter system to public housing, representing an
increase of 1,200 additional units for homeless
families. In response to our advocacy, the City also
implemented Living in Communities (LINC) rent
vouchers so that eligible working families, families
with multiple shelter stays, those who have
survived domestic violence, and adult families who
have members who are 60 years or older are given
the opportunity to leave shelter and enter
apartments with rental assistance. 
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ENSURING HOUSING RENTAL SUBSIDIES ARE EFFECTIVE

In New York City, landlords may not refuse to rent an
apartment to a tenant because their source of
income includes government payments.  We have
initiated litigation to ensure that landlords accept
LINC vouchers, as legally required.  In August 2015,
The Legal Aid Society and pro bono counsel Mayer
Brown, LLP filed Alston et al. v. Starrett City, Inc. et al.
in the Supreme Court of the State of New York on
behalf of the Fair Housing Justice Center and two
homeless New Yorkers who sought to rent
apartments from the defendants using LINC
vouchers to pay the rent, but were refused when the
defendants learned they were LINC recipients. In July
2016, the Court issued an interim decision declaring
that the City's Human Rights Law prohibits landlords
from refusing to accept LINC rent vouchers for
homeless families, and disagreeing with Starrett
City’s claim that the prohibition against source of
income discrimination in the Law does not require it
to accept a LINC voucher. Further, the Court found
that the language in the Law “should be interpreted
liberally to include all forms of housing assistance…”
and ordered Spring Creek (formerly Starrett City), the
largest privately owned rental complex in New York
City, to process the plaintiff's application.

REFORMING PUNITIVE PUBLIC ASSISTANCE SANCTION RULES

DRIVING THE HUNGER AND HOUSING CRISIS IN NEW YORK STATE

The Government Benefits Unit has continually
advocated to reduce the harms that stringent
changes in welfare law and regulations have
created for impoverished New Yorkers since 1996.

Beginning with a trio of class action cases filed in
the 1990s, the Society led the fight against some of
the worst abuses of government policies that were
designed to strip away the safety net of public
benefits programs under the false pretense of
“helping” people become self-sufficient. The three
class action victories provided access to education
and training, access to pregnancy allowances and
emergency grants to forestall utility shut-offs, and
access to benefits while a fair hearing is pending.
Recently, our sustained advocacy through litigation,
administrative, and legislative advocacy has
culminated in reforms that are now protecting
hundreds of thousands of low-income New Yorkers
from having their public assistance benefits cut for

as long as six months as a punishment when they
could not comply with a work requirement or
simply missed one appointment. The average
household lost more than $500 in benefits when
they were “sanctioned.” Before these reforms,
10,000 or more recipients were told each month
that their Cash Assistance or Supplemental
Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) benefits were
being cut as a sanction for failure to comply with
work requirements. The aggregate costs to low-
income New Yorkers were on the order of $5 to $10
million per month in lost benefits, and directly
resulted in housing instability as individuals who
prioritized purchasing food struggled to pay rent
and faced eviction.

Last year, we helped draft and supported the
enactment of legislation that re-instated the pre-
1996 policy, allowing recipients to avoid a sanction
or end a sanction on their cash benefits as long as
they were willing to comply with program rules. The
legislation was the result of nearly a decade of
building support and alliances to create this historic
reform. At the same time, we have achieved a virtual
elimination of SNAP sanctions. First, we were
successful in our federal class action litigation in the
Richard C. v. Berlin case, which had initially
introduced a state-wide moratorium on SNAP
sanctions in December of 2014 after we established
that the State was failing to give recipients the
“second chance” to which they were entitled under
federal law before cutting their benefits. We then
helped persuade the then new City administration
to take a new approach allowed under federal law
and to run the employment program as a voluntary
one, focusing resources on those who were most
able to take advantage of employment and training
options. The elimination of the mandatory
requirements – which had never been proven to be
effective in actually helping people find jobs or
develop skills – resulted in the elimination of SNAP
sanctions as well. In short, families are no longer
being deprived of food as a punishment. A collateral
effect of these reforms is that the State itself is
saving millions of dollars in administrative costs
associated with fair hearings. Prior to these reforms,
there were more than 40,000 hearings held in
sanction cases every year, costing the State an
average of $400 in administrative costs for each

THE CIVIL PRACTICE continued       
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case, or $16,000,000. Considering that clients won
about 80% of the hearings, this was a huge waste
of State resources.

FIGHTING FOR LOW-WAGE, EXPLOITED, AND UNEMPLOYED

WORKERS

The Employment Law Unit provides legal services to
low-wage and unemployed workers. Cases involve
unemployment insurance, wage and hour violations,
and workplace discrimination, including dis-
crimination based on past involvement with the
criminal justice system. Increasingly, we are providing
direct representation to low-income New Yorkers
with criminal records to combat employment
barriers and facilitate successful reentry.

One such case involved Ms. P, a single mother and
sex trafficking survivor who works as a Home
Health Aide. The State Department of Health (DOH)
disqualified Ms. P from working as a Home Health
Aide (HHA) because of her criminal convictions,
which occurred between eight and 16 years ago.
Several of Ms. P’s convictions are related to her past
history as a victim of sex trafficking. The Legal Aid
Society’s Exploitation Intervention Project was
helping Ms. P vacate the trafficking-related
convictions, and they referred her to the Society’s

Employment Law Unit (ELU) for assistance
reversing the Health Department’s disqualification.
After we determined that Ms. P’s convictions
should not bar her from working as an HHA, we
filed a motion seeking reconsideration of DOH’s
final disqualification of Ms. P. We argued that the
length of time since the offenses, Ms. P’s age at the
time of the offenses, and Ms. P’s minor involvement
in the offenses showed that the convictions did not
warrant disqualification. The ELU also argued that
Ms. P had submitted sufficient evidence of
rehabilitation, including multiple Certificates of
Relief from Disabilities and letters of
recommendation from family members of the
patients Ms. P had cared for in the past. DOH
revised its final disqualification decision, and Ms. P
is now able to work at the Home Health Aide
agency that hired her. The Society accomplished
this work with an Equal Justice Works Fellow,
sponsored by AIG and Sullivan & Cromwell LLP.

PREVENTING EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION

The Employment Law Unit, with pro bono partners
Arnold & Porter, is representing five firefighter
applicants who were disqualified for employment
by the Fire Department of the City of New York
(FDNY) because of their previous arrests. All are

Jean Miranda (right photo, center) Supervisor of the Society's Access to Benefits (A2B) Helpline, provides hands on supervision to
volunteers from law firms, law schools and corporate law departments who partner with Legal Aid in assisting low-income New
Yorkers on a variety of legal issues. Volunteers utilize a Society developed software program which navigates potential resources
and referrals in areas as diverse as public benefits, immigration, health benefits and education.
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African-American men, and four of the five men
had been initially disqualified for failing to pass a
written exam that the federal courts found to have
a disparate impact on African American and Latino
men. Refusing to give up on their dreams of
becoming firefighters, our clients pursued and
passed all other aspects of the application process,
including but not limited to the revised exam, the
physical exam, the medical exam, and the
psychological exam. However, when the FDNY
reviewed our clients’ criminal background records,
it baselessly contended that they lacked the
“character” needed for the position of an FDNY
firefighter. We filed appeals on behalf of all five
clients with the NYC Civil Service Commission
challenging the disqualifications and also filed
Article 78 petitions in New York County Supreme
Court against the NYC Civil Service Commission
and the FDNY when the disqualifications were
upheld. In  May 2016, the FDNY agreed to
reconsider our clients’ applications for the
December 2016 firefighter class based on revised
personnel guidelines that would eliminate
potential disqualifications from old and minor
criminal records.

PROTECTING HEALTH CARE SERVICES

The Health Law Unit, with pro bono partners
Winston & Strawn LLP, are working to address a
lack of access to adequate home care services in the
Medicaid Managed Long Term Care plans run by
Healthfirst, Senior Health Partners, and Healthfirst
CompleteCare. All Managed Long Term Care
members are elderly and/or disabled and need
assistance with activities of daily living such as
bathing, dressing, and toileting in order to live
safely at home. The plans routinely ignore
members’ requests for additional services,
improperly deny such requests, and violate other
laws and regulations, risking the health and safety
of these vulnerable individuals and putting undue
pressure on family members to provide care. In July,
the Society along with Winston & Strawn filed an
individual case in the Southern District against
Senior Health Partners on behalf of a 41-year-old
disabled woman who, despite repeated requests,
had been unable to secure an increase in home care

hours that she needed to remain safely at home.
The case was quickly settled and the client received
the hours she needed. HLU and Winston & Strawn
sent a demand letter to the New York State
Department of Health in September 2016,
threatening litigation if the State does not properly
supervise Medicaid Long Term Care plans and
ensure that they comply with the law.

PROVIDING IMMIGRATION LEGAL SERVICES FOR UNACCOMPANIED

MINORS AND ADULTS WITH CHILDREN

Our Immigration Law Unit (ILU) continues to work
on the Unaccompanied Minor Children Initiative
(UMC), which provides direct representation to
recently immigrated unaccompanied children in
accelerated deportation proceedings before the
immigration court’s Priority Docket. ILU also
continues its work in the Adults with Children
(AWC) Initiative. The overwhelming majority of
AWCs are single mothers who have fled their home
countries as a result of intra-familial violence
and/or gender-based violence. Many of these
women and children have asylum claims that can
be litigated before the immigration court.  An
example is the case of CP, a 17-year-old from El
Salvador. He was detained by U.S. border officials in
May 2014 and released to his sister in New York. CP
was physically abused by both his parents while
residing in El Salvador. His parents forced him to
work on various farms where he came into regular
contact with pesticides and fumes, making it
difficult for him to breathe. Worse, CP was
threatened by the MS 13 gang after refusing to join.
CP stopped going to school because the gangs
threatened him consistently on his way to school.
He finally fled to the U.S. after his cousin was killed,
fearing that the gangs would kill him as well.
Attorneys from the Society met CP at a master
calendar hearing and he was given an appointment
for an in-office interview. A Society attorney
determined that CP was eligible to apply for Special
Immigrant Juvenile Status (SIJS) relief, as a result of
the abuse, and was also eligible for asylum based
on persecution by gangs. The Society attorney filed
a family court petition and obtained a special
findings order. The application for SIJS is currently
pending before the U.S. Citizenship and

THE CIVIL PRACTICE continued       
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Immigration Services. The attorney also referred CP
to a social worker who began working with CP to
address his mental health issues. The social worker
subsequently referred CP to Terra Firma where he
has been diagnosed with PTSD and is under
treatment. CP is now in the 11th grade. He is
interested in computers and wants to pursue a
career in the financial industry.

PAVING SMOOTHER ROADS TO REENTRY THROUGH OUR RIKERS

REENTRY PROJECT

Often clients, who are incarcerated for relatively
short periods of time, and their families are subject
to eviction and homelessness because of the
inability to make rental payments during the period
of incarceration.  A recent case exemplifies the
Society’s level of commitment to our clients and our
ability to provide high-quality legal services with
novel results. We were recently able to obtain a “One
Shot Deal” rental arrears grant from the City Human
Resources Administration for a client who was
incarcerated at Rikers Island. This is the second time
in the Project’s history we have achieved this result.
The client, who is the head of his household and the
father of a young daughter, would have faced
eviction, but for our intervention.  We were able to
obtain emergency rental assistance to cover rental
arrears as well as accrued rent to preserve the
housing for the family.  We are optimistic that this
approval has set the stage for us to obtain similar
results for other clients who are incarcerated so that

they can return to a safe and affordable home when
they are released from Rikers Island.

OBTAINING RENT RELIEF FOR A SENIOR CITIZEN AND HER FAMILY

Ms. M came to The Legal Aid Society seeking
assistance with a proceeding her landlord brought
against her seeking unpaid rent. She lives with her
great-grandson and her brother. Their sole source
of income is Social Security benefits, and she
participates in the Senior Citizen Rent Increase
Exemption (SCRIE) program, which freezes the rent
in her rent-stabilized apartment. Upon intake,
Society staff learned that Ms. M’s landlord, who is
at the top of the City Public Advocate's list of the
100 Worst Landlords in New York City, failed to give
her a renewal lease, which was threatening her
SCRIE renewal application. In addition, there were
numerous repairs which the landlord had failed to
make.  We helped her obtain a copy of that lease so
she could continue participation in the SCRIE
program. Despite her copies of money orders
showing monthly rent payments, her landlord
claimed he had not received one of the payments.
Staff traced this money order on Ms. M's behalf and
discovered that it had been fraudulently cashed by
an unknown third party. The Legal Aid Society
secured a replacement of this amount through
various charities. As a result of our advocacy, Ms.
M’s case was settled.  The settlement secured the
repair of the conditions in her apartment, as well
as full satisfaction of any rent she may have owed.

The new Administration in
Washington has threatened to
deport or jail between two and
three million immigrants with
some criminal history and
establish a registry of Muslims.
The Legal Aid Society respon-
ded immediately to the fears
and needs of its immigrant
client communities and is
offering informational forums
throughout the five boroughs.
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The expansive reach of the Criminal Defense
Practice runs from its dynamic advocacy in
court to its presence and partnership in

communities and its leadership on criminal justice
issues across the nation. As the primary
public defender in New York City, the
Practice zealously and tirelessly works to
protect the rights of the most
marginalized and disenfranchised in
society. Yet our scope, as the country’s
oldest and largest public defender, goes
beyond any single case or client. Our
community engagement, impact
litigation and broader advocacy
consistently strive for increased fairness
and humanity in the criminal justice
system, and seek to reduce the
devastating permanent consequences of
justice involvement for our clients.

The Practice includes trial-level offices in every
borough, an Appeals Bureau, a Prisoners’ Rights
Project, a Community Justice Unit and a Special
Litigation Unit. In each area, the Practice has
developed innovative model projects that garner
expertise and push criminal justice practice and
discourse forward. In the past year, the Practice
represented nearly 230,000 clients in trial,
appellate and post-conviction matters. 

IN THE COURTS

Day in and day out, Practice staff work to protect
and fight for clients navigating justice system
involvement. Our effectiveness stems from our
work before, during and after a criminal case. For
example, Practice staff field intake inquiries from
clients needing assistance, engage in vigorous bail
advocacy at the first court appearance, and work
with clients’ families to mitigate the larger impact
of an arrest. Comprehensive advocacy is the
hallmark of our representation; our attorneys,
paralegals, investigators and social workers explore
all angles of allegations and charges, relentlessly
seeking to avoid unnecessary, unjust incarceration
and connect clients with critical resources that
address ongoing needs. 

Our staff tackles every issue confronting our clients,
pressing on questions like the validity of eyewitness

identification and the need for access to police
records. The Practice’s units devoted to DNA evidence
and digital forensics analysis apply the latest
advances in order to challenge government findings

and secure evidence essential to clients’
defenses. We elicit narratives that often
include compelling stories of innocence
and false accusations, a fuller
development of the facts and critical
context. The results are dismissals,
acquittals, placements in alternative to
incarceration programs, reversals and
even the clearance of wrongful
convictions decades later. 

One case harnessing the Practice’s
expertise and dedication arose from the
robbery of a cab driver. Police arrested our

client and others, saying they took the cab from
Manhattan to the Bronx and robbed the driver along
the way. The Digital Forensics Unit extracted data
from our client’s phone and obtained call detail
records through a defense subpoena to the provider.
It then mapped the device’s location during the
relevant timeframe. The evidence gathered told a
story different from that of the police: Our client
never left the Bronx that day. The Bronx trial office
used these findings to convince prosecutors to drop
the charges against our client and everyone else. 

Our courtroom advocacy goes far beyond individual
cases. Through the work of our law reform units,
Special Litigation and Prisoners’ Rights Project,
systemic change is achieved.

Our Special Litigation Unit, which brings class
action and law reform cases, focuses on eliminating
deep-seated problems affecting our clients’ rights,
such as police abuse and government overreach.
Taking on the issue of the public’s ability to monitor
police activity, the Unit and Proskauer Rose LLP filed
a lawsuit arguing that the city’s police department
has a widespread practice and custom of letting
officers interfere with the First Amendment rights
of individuals who record, or try to record, police
misconduct and abusive arrest practices. 

This year the Unit’s Cop Accountability Project,
which collects data on individual officers, launched

Tina Luongo
Attorney-in-Charge

Criminal Defense Practice
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a web-based interface that will allow defense
attorneys and investigators fast access to critical
data cultivated and stored in the database. The
information has proven to be invaluable. 

In one trial for drug possession and sale, the
Project’s research undercut the prosecution case.
The Project assembled a list of lawsuits filed
against testifying officers and the suits’ settlement
amounts. Allegations in the lawsuits included
illegal searches, fabricated evidence, excessive force
and false arrest. On cross examination, a staff
attorney in the Brooklyn trial office confronted the
officers with the court actions. The jury found our
client not guilty on all counts; in post-verdict
defense interviews, jurors said they were deeply
skeptical of the officers, because of  the revelations
about misconduct. 

Project information has also sown doubt for
prosecutors in their own cases. In one gun
possession case against a legal permanent resident
– terrified by the possibility of deportation away
from his family – the assistant district attorney
appeared to worry about the detectives involved in
the case. The Project compiled information
illustrating how often the pair were sued while
working together. The trial-level attorney gave the
information to the prosecutor, who eventually asked
for the case’s dismissal in the interests of justice. 

This pursuit of police information is extensive and
goes to critical issues of police department
accountability and transparency. The Special Litigation
Unit is seeking Civilian Complaint Review Board
misconduct summaries that were substantiated
against Officer Daniel Pantaleo before he applied a

The staff of the Staten Island Criminal Defense Practice office, joined by members of the 2016 new attorney class, Community
Justice Unit, MIS and other CDP units, provided representation to over 200 people in the borough's first warrant amnesty program.
Fresh Start was sponsored by the Staten Island District Attorney in collaboration with the Society, the Office of Court
Administration and the NYPD.
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The Legal Aid Society held a special reception for LGBTQ Pride Month in the Queens Criminal office and paid tribute to the Orlando
victims.  The names of the Orlando victims were read during a candle light ceremony.  Pictured from left are Tamara Steckler,
Attorney-in-Charge of the Juvenile Rights Practice; Adriene Holder, Attorney-in-Charge of the Civil Practice; Seymour James,
Attorney-in-Chief; and Tina Luongo, Attorney-in-Charge of the Criminal Defense Practice.

fatal chokehold on Eric Garner. In July 2015, Manhattan
Supreme Court Justice Alice Schlesinger decided such
records fell outside the state’s stringent police
personnel disclosure laws. The Unit is working to keep
the holding intact as the City appeals. 

The Practice also fights to protect the rights of
prisoners and people released to community
supervision. 

Our Prisoners’ Rights Project advises and
represents inmates in city jails and state prisons.
Beyond any one case, the Project is a key advocate
for fairness and oversight in New York’s jails and
prisons. The Project is closely watching city
compliance with a landmark consent decree to
address prisoner abuse by Department of
Correction staff at Rikers Island.

A federal court approved the decree in October,
2015, years after Legal Aid and its co-counsels,

Emery Celli Brinckerhoff & Abady LLP and Ropes &
Gray LLP, filed the class action lawsuit. When the
U.S. Justice Department intervened on plaintiffs’
behalf, its court papers noted Legal Aid’s decades of
litigation against correction staff brutality. 

The Prisoners’ Rights Project also tackles
unacceptable conditions in state prisons. In a class
action case filed with Debevoise & Plimpton LLP,
the Project faults the state Department of
Corrections and Community Supervision for not
taking reasonable steps that would reduce the risk
of female inmate sexual abuse by prison staff.

Our Parole Revocation Defense Unit, the first of its
kind established in the nation in 1972 , represents
clients released from prison to community
supervision who are accused of breaching release
conditions and are returned to jail on a parole
violation – many times for a mere technical
violation such as being late for curfew. 
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In one ruling putting privacy rights squarely at issue, a
judge vacated a parole violation warrant against our
client. Parole authorities had placed the man in a
treatment program where he was constantly watched
by a staff member and security guard. Despite the
Unit’s objections at a hearing, a psychiatrist testified
about the man’s threats and agitation resulting from
the type of observation he was subjected to. In its
ensuing habeas corpus petition, the Unit showed the
testimony violated our client’s protections under the
physician-patient privilege. 

With the Practice’s Criminal Appeals Bureau, we
continue to advocate long after the trial-level case
ends when we represent clients on direct appeals
and post-conviction matters. This work is
supported by incredible pro bono counsel. In one
case, our office worked with Hughes Hubbard &
Reed LLP to vacate Ms. G’s manslaughter conviction.
Ms. G had no part in a fatal 1991 beating but she
spent 10 years in prison. The only trial evidence
connecting her to the crime was a false confession
extracted by Louis Scarcella, a now-disgraced
former police detective. 

Here, Legal Aid and Hughes Hubbard spent almost
three years reinvestigating and litigating information
disclosure. The team’s presentation to the Brooklyn
DA’s office convinced prosecutors to review the case
and, ultimately, ask a judge to dismiss Ms. G’s
indictment and conviction because she was
innocent. 

Advocating for the Client as a Whole  
Our capacity to defend and represent our clients is
enhanced by the Practice’s social work, which
assists individuals dealing with addiction and
mental illness, and aids in arguments for treatment
instead of incarceration. Though social workers play
a role in a broad range of cases, one particular focus
is the Practice’s Mentally Ill, Chemically Addicted
(MICA) Project, comprised of attorneys teamed
with social workers. Many MICA Project clients are
participants in the city’s Mental Health Treatment
Courts. Once clients receive community-based
treatment, the Project can offer them essential
support for up to two years after the case is closed.
MICA’s dedication and coordination steered a

promising college student away from a conviction
and arranged for him to get the help he needed,
surrounded by family. AH was arrested at John F.
Kennedy International Airport for erratic behavior,
resisting law enforcement and claiming he had a
bomb. The young man suffered from delusions and
the early stages of schizophrenia. 

Beginning with an arraignment at Bellevue
Hospital, MICA Project members acted quickly to
get AH appropriate treatment outside a locked
unit. The Project also negotiated with prosecutors
on a dismissal or downgrade for as many charges
as possible – especially the felony terror threat
charge. AH pleaded to a misdemeanor and a
violation, with the understanding he would return
to his out-of-state home with his mother and
undergo outpatient aftercare treatment. MICA
arranged for the care, working with Bellevue
Hospital mental health professionals.  

AH’s condition improved, he found regular
employment and he was admitted to a community
college. MICA staff tracked AH’s progress and
apprised prosecutors and a very satisfied judge.
Though it was anticipated AH would withdraw his
misdemeanor guilty plea and be sentenced on the
non-criminal disorderly conduct violation, it is now
expected that all charges will  be dismissed and the
matter fully sealed. 

Concern for the client is also shown in the lengths
Practice members take to avert an arrest or
conviction’s potential employment, housing or
immigration consequences. Practice members
work closely with the organization’s other Practices
and pro bono counsel to minimize or eliminate the
disastrous lasting repercussions. 

Our advocacy prevented a man from possibly
having to choose between the life he built in
America and his family in his native country.
Though educated and employed in America, the
man, a legal permanent resident, frequently
traveled to see friends and family in his South
America homeland. After encountering medical
issues and mounting bills, the man was charged
with grand larceny. Practice members negotiated a
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misdemeanor disposition that, if its terms are
followed, would not make the man deportable. The
disposition also would not make the man
inadmissible after international travel, thus letting
him rebuild his life in America while allowing visits
to an ailing parent. 

Elsewhere, Practice members avoided a client’s
potential deportation through skilled trial advocacy.
The client had been brought to America when she
was a child and was later arrested for felony assault.
Any felony conviction would have meant revocation
of her status under the Deferred Action for Childhood
Arrivals. Even though a non-jail plea offer was made,
the Practice took the case to trial and pressed a self-
defense argument that persuaded the jury to acquit,
preserving the client’s ability to remain in the country. 

The Practice’s Exploitation Intervention Project
represents clients arrested for prostitution and victims

of human trafficking who are prosecuted for a wide
range of other offenses. The Project combats barriers,
minimizes harm, increases safety and prevents further
exploitation of its clients. This past year, the Project
handled nearly 1,400 cases in the state’s Human
Trafficking Intervention Courts.  Through its client
support and empowerment, the project won dismissal
of the charges in nearly 85% of its cases. The Project
also works to free human trafficking survivors from
the burden of a criminal record caused by their
victimization; it has helped survivors vacate over 1,100
criminal convictions since its inception, paving the way
for independence and stability. 

IN COMMUNITIES

As the City’s primary public defender, we believe
advocacy must not only take place in the
courtroom, but in the communities where our
clients live and work.

Lead by Example—Twenty four attorneys from the Queens Criminal Defense office serve as mentors teaching middle and high
school students in Far Rockaway about topics ranging from career goals to conflict resolution.  The staff also share legal principles
to educate students about their interactions with police.  Germaine Auguste, a Supervising Attorney, and Paul Montgomery, a
Staff Attorney, conducting a session.  Christine McKeithan, a Staff Attorney, lectures the students (Inset).  They participate in the
Queens District Attorney's STAR TRACK Anti-Violence Program.
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Part of this effort is performed through the
Community Justice Unit, which is premised on the
idea of identifying and attempting to address
neighborhood problems before they escalate into
crises. The Unit has built relationships with its Cure
Violence partners – community groups, youth
organizations, tenant associations and schools –
focusing on the prevention of violence, criminal
cases, wrongful evictions and lost jobs. It frequently
offers Know Your Rights presentations and holds
clinics offering guidance on how to correct any
inaccurate information on criminal record reports.
It also has its own emergency hotline in order to
assist clients as early as possible who may be
wanted by the police for questioning or arrest or
have been victims of serious crimes and are
shackled to a hospital bed because of a warrant on
a summons or violation.

Rather than being tied to one location, the Unit
travels regularly to hold office hours at Cure
Violence partner sites, attend events and
responded to shootings and gang takedowns. The
Unit assists clients eligible for a diversion program
meant to remove 16 and 17-year-olds facing low-
level misdemeanors from the court system. The
Unit conducts community intake and refers clients
to Legal Aid staff in every practice area. 

This year, the Unit advised a woman who learned
her RAP sheet erroneously showed an open case
that should have been closed. A Unit attorney
successfully challenged a state agency over the
inaccuracy. The woman received a corrected RAP
sheet and a clear understanding of her rights when
seeking employment.  

Striving for greater civic engagement, the Unit
conducted voter education and registration drives
at Rikers Island and detention centers in the city
over the summer, meeting and registering close to
500 inmates. The Unit’s vantage point, spotting
problems block by block, also makes it an
important resource for Legal Aid’s three special
litigation units in their fights for systemic change. 

The Practice’s trial offices also have a community
presence. The Manhattan, Brooklyn, Staten Island
and Bronx offices collaborated with prosecutors

and the Office of Court Administration on special
events where open warrants on minor offenses
were resolved and unnecessary client arrests were
avoided. The Parole Revocation Defense Unit also
connects clients with services meant to stabilize
their re-entry and help them move forward with
their lives.

Legislative and Policy Reforms 
Practice members regularly testify before
lawmakers and government agencies to comment
on proposed legislation and provide insight on
issues affecting our clients. The Criminal Practice
provides, in each forum, a critical and frequently
overlooked voice, highlighting where reform is
necessary. The advocacy has led to important
legislative victories.

Members of the Practice worked closely with New
York City Council members to formulate a series of
bills permitting police to issue civil summonses
instead of criminal ones for low-level offenses. Our
remarks on the later-enacted laws underscored the
harms of “Broken Windows” policing and proposed
suggestions for further legislative improvements. 

Practice staff spoke on the severe consequences of
inaccurate court records and also continued to lead
the call for laws requiring the New York City Police
Department and the Department of Correction to
collect data – measures that would increase
transparency for both agencies and further protect
New Yorkers. The Practice pursues every
opportunity to hold both these institutions
accountable, and scrutinize their operations to
prevent overreach and protect clients from harm.

ACROSS THE NATION

The Practice is an indispensable voice in a growing
national discussion about reforms for all aspects of
the criminal justice process, from policing practices
to the treatment of prisoners and those re-
integrating into society. 

Developing Best Practices 
The Exploitation Intervention Project’s success in
pursuing post-conviction relief for survivors of
human trafficking now provides a model for
national attorney training efforts. More than half
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of the country’s states have passed laws permitting
vacatur of convictions upon a showing that the
crimes derived from victimization. Yet the practice
has grown slowly, as most trafficking survivors are
unaware of their potential eligibility and legal
services lawyers and public defenders face resource
constraints that prevent them from offering
representation on these post-conviction cases. 

This year, the Exploitation Intervention Project and the
American Bar Association Commission on Domestic
& Sexual Violence launched the Survivor Reentry
Project to offer training and technical assistance on a
national scale so human trafficking victims can obtain
relief. The Project is supported by a grant from the U.S.
Department of Justice’s Office for Victims of Crime.  

Meanwhile, Practice staff have attended and
participated in training and conferences across the city
and country on a variety of topics. Such events have
included: the American Bar Association’s Prescription
for Criminal Justice Forensic Program; the National
Association of Social Workers Annual Conference, the
National Defender Investigator Association, the
National Legal Aid and Defender Association’s national
conference; and even an address in India in the U.S.
Embassy Public Affairs Section.

Ending Mass Incarceration
This year, the Special Litigation Unit launched its
Decarceration Project to decrease and eventually
end the needless pre-trial jailing, which results
when people cannot afford to pay bail. The Project
is amassing statistics and developing best
practices. It also challenges bail applications and
rulings that keep clients in jail because the price of
liberty is too expensive. 

One appellate challenge exemplified the Project’s
ongoing fight. Our client’s family had posted

$25,000 bail, using a bondsman. When a co-
defendant entered a plea requiring incrimination
of our client, the judge quadrupled bail to $100,000
and changed the requisite form of bail. The family
could not afford the sum. 

This effectively remanded our client, even though
he had already attended four court appearances by
that point. The Project challenged the excessive bail
increase with a habeas corpus petition. When the
writ was denied, the Project appealed. An Appellate
Division justice overruled the lower court and
restored the original bail amount, releasing our
client from jail in the process. 

In another sign of Legal Aid’s prominence as a voice
for ending mass incarceration, Seymour James Jr.,
the organization’s Attorney-in-Chief, was selected
to serve on an independent commission, chaired by
former Chief Judge Jonathan Lippman, examining
whether inmates should continue to be held at
Rikers Island.  The commission is exploring whether
more people should be released to community
supervision and whether smaller alternative sites
in local communities where the clients live should
be established. 

Legal Aid’s efforts to end mass incarceration include
policy analysis, where the Practice is involved in a
prominent foundation award focusing on the issue.
Legal Aid is one of many organizations and
agencies partnering in a $2 million award to New
York City from the John D. and Catherine T.
MacArthur Foundation’s Safety and Justice
Challenge to determine how to reduce unnecessary
local jail incarceration as well as racial and ethnic
disparities in jail usage. The Practice is offering a
broad defense-side view of the problems and
possible solutions.

   

LAS AR 2016 Text Rev.qxp_Layout 1  11/28/16  10:53 AM  Page 20



21THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

   THE JUVENILE RIGHTS PRACTICE

The Juvenile Rights Practice (JRP) represents
children and young adults, both in individual
cases and large scale reform efforts. From our

direct representation to the broader policies, JRP is
a force for children’s rights in the courts,
in communities and across the nation. 

JRP’s expertise is built on 54 years of
child advocacy experience. The Legal Aid
Society created JRP in 1962, in
conjunction with the state’s
establishment of the Family Court. Legal
Aid was among the country’s first
institutional providers to dedicate staff
to youth matters. Five years later the U.S.
Supreme Court recognized a right to
counsel in delinquency cases with its
1967 ruling, In re Gault. 

Within New York City’s Family Courts, JRP
represents 90% of all children involved in child
welfare, juvenile delinquency and Persons in Need
of Supervision matters and represented
approximately 33,000 children this year. JRP clients
face potentially life-altering issues such as suitable
foster care placement, the feasibility of family
reunification, appropriate education and sibling
visitation. JRP attorneys, social workers, paralegals
and support staff work to ensure clients’ positions
are heard and realized in decisions that will affect
them for years to come. 

JRP provides representation in a client-directed and
comprehensive manner, always prepared for the
myriad issues in any case. While continually
improving their advocacy, JRP staff members work
closely with the Society’s other Practice areas. As a
result, JRP clients have access to assistance in
virtually every area where they may be facing legal
and social challenges.  

Since 1962, JRP has grown into an essential voice in
the city, state and nation when it comes to juvenile
justice and child welfare matters. Staff share their
expertise through various governmental, non-
profit and Bar committees. Likewise, the breadth
and quality of our work have made JRP a respected
and persuasive voice for legislative and policy
reforms. 

TRIAL REPRESENTATION

At the trial level, JRP staff is located in offices in each
of the five boroughs of NYC. This presence puts them
in the courts at critical early case junctures, such as

intake or arraignment. Our effective
counsel continues through the life of the
case, including work post-disposition.

For example, JRP used its expertise,
courtroom advocacy and negotiating
skills to fulfill a client’s desire to reside
with his mother. KR was an adolescent
client in a neglect case, placed in a
Residential Treatment Center where he

was struggling educationally, running
away and getting arrested. JRP
collaborated with the youth’s criminal
defense attorney, as well as a JRP

educational advocate and social worker to build a
case for Keeshawn’s return to his mother. Although
a complicated case, given KR’s ongoing criminal
cases and behavioral issues, JRP’s work persuaded
a previously skeptical judge to return him home.

Additionally, JRP advocacy has defeated baseless
delinquency cases time and time again. In one
instance, police asserted SM had a razor blade in a
park. The officers insisted SM had the object
because it was found in the car in which he and
others were sitting. The officers testified that they
saw the client “toss something silver or chrome,
after he had made eye contact” with them. The
judge discredited the inconsistent, unbelievable
testimony and released our client, following the JRP
attorney’s cross examination. 

In another case, our client, AS, followed police
instructions to leave the subway after officers
received a call about disruptive teens. AS was
arrested when refusing to take his hands out of his
pockets. He was accused of obstructing
governmental administration and resisting arrest.
The judge ruled for our client after the JRP attorney
cited case law stating that unless an officer had a
reason to insist on a person removing their hands
from their pockets, there was no basis for an arrest. 

Practice staff bring that same level of care and skill
to child welfare matters. AD and DH were removed

Tamara Steckler
Attorney-in-Charge

Juvenile Rights Practice
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from their mother based on one incident of
corporal punishment. The children, ages six and
nine, were anxious to return home. The JRP
attorney contended the New York City
Administration for Children’s Services failed to
show the children would be in imminent risk of
harm in their mother’s care, even though she had
not engaged in certain services. JRP emphasized
the event’s isolated nature, the mother’s remorse
and the positive interactions observed at visits.
These arguments led to the children’s return to
their mother pending trial, which was consistent
with their wishes. 

Meanwhile, advocacy for a two-year-old girl, J,
spared her highly stressful visits with a father who
had a history of violence and mistreatment. J and
her brother were removed from their mother and
paroled to their father on certain conditions. He
was found months later panhandling with J, who
was underweight and had numerous marks and
bruises. She and her brother were put in foster care.
The father, who was incarcerated for pushing a
baby and stroller into traffic, asked to see J. The
court indicated it would direct visits to occur.
Though the foster care agency had concerns, the
agency said it could not arrange a visitation
assessment and would comply with court orders.
Concerned about the effects of any visits, JRP
brought in a psychologist to meet with J, her father
and foster mother. Due to the girl’s ordeal with the
father, the expert said J needed supportive, safe
interpersonal attachments and little stress. The
father withdrew his visitation application. 

JRP fights for the rights and wishes of its clients in
a variety of situations. For example, a JRP client was
released to her father at the close of a delinquency
case. Following a falling out between the pair, JRP’s
persistence resulted in the client’s appropriate
placement after an entirely unnecessary hold in a
psychiatric ward. In another matter, a judge ordered
ACS to pay for a summer military camp that would
further our client’s goal of military service. The
teamwork of a JRP attorney and social worker
demonstrated the camp’s importance to our client
and the judge ordered payment over the City’s
objections. 

SPECIAL FOCUSES

JRP strengthens its work through specialized units
focused on particular client issues. The Juvenile
Services Unit, the Practice’s social work component,
teams social workers with attorneys in order to
address the educational, social and psychological
issues connected to the clients’ Family Court cases.
The Kathryn A. McDonald Education Advocacy
Project (EAP) offers services including early
intervention and special education advocacy for
clients in child welfare and delinquency proceedings.
It also appears for clients at mediations and
impartial hearings to enforce a child’s right to a free,
appropriate public education, or to defend a client at
a suspension or expulsion hearing.

An example of the critically important advocacy
provided by EAP involved the case of EB, who had
been placed in foster care when she was four years
old.  She had severe temper tantrums and poor
speech and language skills.  EAP investigated and
found out that she previously had an Individualized
Education Program (IEP) recommending an
integrated special education preschool class with
speech and language therapy services.
Unfortunately, those services had been interrupted
when she entered foster care.  EAP was able to re-
open her case with the Department of Education
and obtained an appropriate special education
placement at a preschool close to her new foster
home.  

In another proceeding, JP, a 7th grade student who
is classified as learning disabled, had been
repeatedly suspended and excluded from school.
Federal law provides that students with disabilities
may not be excluded from school for more than 10
days if their behavior was a manifestation of their
disability.  In JP's case, the DOE determined that his
behavior was not a manifestation of his disability,
despite ample evidence to the contrary.  The DOE
then proceeded to impose a long-term suspension
on JP.  EAP filed for an impartial hearing and
succeeded in reversing the finding.  JP was able to
return to school immediately.  At EAP's request, the
school re-evaluated JP and agreed to place him in
a non-public day school that is better able to
address his needs. 
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The Appeals Unit handles all appeals for JRP’s
clients, whether the challenge is filed by the
Practice or another party. Most of the Unit’s
work comes from delinquency and child
protective matters, and sometimes before a
trial-level disposition. The Unit’s Stays and Writs
Project provides representation to challenge
court orders. 

Our specialized knowledge is put to use every
day. In one case, JRP represented a 13-year-old
client suffering in foster care after living all but
the last five months in Wisconsin. Our expertise
on the Interstate Compact on the Placement of
Children (ICPC) convinced a judge to order the
client’s return to her non-respondent father in
Wisconsin. The appellate court rejected ACS’
request for a stay after JRP advocacy educated
the court on the compact’s non-mandatory
application, leading to an understanding that
there were effective ways to monitor our client
outside the state without invoking the ICPC and
becoming mired in its delays and problems. The
appeals court determined there was no showing
our client would be harmed by returning home
to her father. 

The Unit’s work in the state’s trial and appellate
courts establishes and clarifies important legal
issues in children advocacy. Previous appellate work
has led to rulings that, among other things,
clarified the meaning of “depraved indifference” in
the Family Court context and allowed expert
testimony on the question of whether a child
knowingly waived his right to remain silent.

Each borough’s Adolescent Practice Team focuses
on aiding clients who are aging out of the foster
care system and ensuring they secure the
entitlements they deserve pursuant to state and
city laws and regulations. Their insight on issues
connected to “aging out” assists other staff with
motion practice, and legislative and regulatory
advocacy outside the courtroom. 

The Trauma Advocacy Project works on the most
difficult physical or sexual abuse cases, having
developed the expertise, protocols and resources
for such cases. The Practice’s LGBT committee works

with Legal Aid’s organization-wide LGBT Law &
Policy Initiative to ensure staff is sensitive and
attentive to the particular needs of these clients. 

BROAD REACH

The Special Litigation and Law Reform Unit
represents clients in class action lawsuits and
engages in legislative and policy advocacy
opposing policies and practices that may harm JRP
clients. Its work amplifies JRP’s capacity to help
clients – and all children – involved in child welfare
and delinquency proceedings. 

The Unit has successfully challenged deplorable
conditions in detention facilities and pushed for
timely, appropriate school re-enrollment after a
youth’s return from detention or facility placement.
In child welfare issues, the unit’s work has included
improved protocol to find appropriate foster care
placements for children after acute care psychiatric
hospitalizations.

Currently, the Unit, in a joint effort with Legal Aid’s
LGBT Law & Policy Initiative, the Civil Practice’s
Homeless Rights Project and pro bono counsel
Patterson Belknap Webb & Tyler LLP, alleges New
York City fails to offer a sufficient number of shelter
beds for runaway and homeless youth. This lawsuit,
now in discovery, also argues city defendants
routinely discharge youth from crisis shelters
without obtaining permanent housing and do not
offer reasonable accommodations or mental health
services to disabled runaway or homeless youth.  

The fight for access to critical health care for low-
income transgender youth culminated this year in
important court victories and the drafting of new
coverage rules for Medicaid recipients.   Starting in
2014, The Legal Aid Society, The Sylvia Rivera Law
Project and pro bono counsel Willkie Farr &
Gallagher LLP sued on behalf of Medicaid-eligible
transgender individuals diagnosed with gender
dysphoria whose expenses were not deemed
reimbursable under the regulations. The federal
class action suit, Cruz v. Zucker, 14-cv-4456, insisted
the lack of coverage was unconstitutional.

Hard fought litigation against New York State by
the plaintiff team – which included Legal Aid’s LGBT
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THE JUVENILE RIGHTS PRACTICE

Law & Policy Initiative and Civil Practice attorneys–
resulted in a series of achievements. In July,
Southern District Judge Jed Rakoff concluded the
state wrongly denied medically necessary care that
aligned a person’s physical appearance with their
gender. The state had argued the procedures were
“cosmetic” and therefore beyond coverage. When
ruling on the blanket ban for such procedures,
Judge Rakoff said there were still factual issues to
be determined on whether certain coverage
exclusions for people under age 18 ran afoul of legal
protections.

Responding to the lawsuit, the New York State
Department of Health proposed rules, which would
allow the state’s Medicaid Program to pay for
hormone therapy and other necessary procedures
for transgender youth. Though the state previously
argued there was a lack of consensus on the
necessity of the treatments, the proposed rules
amounted to an admission the procedures were

medically necessary.   Pointing to the new evidence
of proposed state rules, plaintiffs asked Judge
Rakoff to revisit his earlier decision finding
disputed facts on the age exclusion issue. In
October,  Judge Rakoff agreed there were no more
disputed factual questions and concluded
transgender youth must receive the medically
necessary care they require without having to wait
for the finalization of new state regulations.

When confronted with major concerns about their
well-being and future, youth need representatives
with a command of the law and the experience to
challenge the foster care and juvenile justice
systems. They require advocates who can pinpoint
systemic failure and make convincing demands for
change. They need people on their side, who
respect their positions and will fight to make them
a reality. JRP’s attorneys, social workers, paralegals
and support staff have the scope, experience and
dedication to be the advocates all children deserve.
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The Honorable Jonathan Lippman
New York Pro Bono & Public Service Law Firm Award

Legal Aid Honors Dedication and Skill of its Pro Bono Partners
Chief Judge Janet DiFiore Presents the Awards

The Honorable Janet DiFiore, Chief Judge of the State of New York, addressed The Legal Aid Society’s Pro Bono
Award Ceremony at the Prince George Ballroom and  presented awards to New York City’s foremost law

firms and corporate law departments which have generously volunteered their time and talent to advocate
for equal justice for the marginalized and under-represented.

Legal Aid honored the dedication and skill of its pro bono partners. Their work spans all three practices and
assists clients with a variety of issues. 

Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP was recognized with the 2016 Honorable Jonathan Lippman New York Pro Bono
Publico & Public Service Law Firm Award for its distinguished pro bono commitment to the Society and our
clients. Led by Firm Chair and Legal Aid Board Member Thomas M. Cerabino, Partner and Pro Bono Committee
Chair Michael S. Schachter, Director of Attorney Training & Pro Bono Stacey E. Paradise, and Partner Mary Eaton,
Willkie Farr’s attorneys, legal assistants and administrative staff have shown a sustained commitment to
representing less fortunate New Yorkers. Recent examples of the firm’s outstanding work include litigation to
preserve the rights of clients in the criminal justice system and a fight for transgender Medicaid recipients.

2016 PRO BONO PUBLICO AWARDS

The Legal Aid Society’s Pro Bono Publico Awards were presented on October 26, 2016 by Chief Judge Janet DiFiore.
Receiving the 2016 Honorable Jonathan Lippman New York Pro Bono Pro Bono Publico & Public Service Law Firm
Award was the firm of Willkie Farr & Gallagher. From left  were Attorney-in-Chief Seymour James; Chairman of
the board Richard Davis; Stacey Paradise and Mary Eaton from Willkie Farr; Chief Judge Janet DiFiore; Wesley Powell
and Matthew Freimuth from Willkie Farr; Legal Aid President  Blaine V. (Fin) Fogg and Louis Sartori, Director of the
Pro Bono Practice.

LAS AR 2016 Text Rev.qxp_Layout 1  11/28/16  10:53 AM  Page 25



26 THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

Awards were presented to the following firms for
Extraordinary Pro Bono Assistance to The Legal Aid Society and its Clients. 

PROTECTING THE RIGHTS OF LOW INCOME WORKERS
Arnold & Porter LLP • Crowell & Moring LLP • Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer US LLP • and Kaye Scholer LLP

INNOVATIVE CORPORATE PRO BONO PROJECTS & PARTNERSHIPS
AIG and Sullivan & Cromwell LLP • BNY Mellon • BNP Paribas and Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft LLP

Credit Suisse and Shearman & Sterling LLP • IBM and Goodwin Procter LLP
JPMorgan Chase and Sullivan & Cromwell LLP • MetLife

PRESERVING AFFORDABLE HOUSING & THE RIGHT TO SHELTER
Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP • White & Case LLP • Mayer Brown LLP

ENSURING ACCESS TO AFFORDABLE HEALTH CARE FOR ALL NEW YORKERS
Winston & Strawn LLP

OUTSTANDING ADVOCACY IN CHAMPIONING THE RIGHTS OF THE ACCUSED
Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP • Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP • Proskauer Rose LLP • White & Case LLP

PUBLIC INTEREST LAW LEADERSHIP AWARD
Brenna DeVaney - Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP

Brenna DeVaney, Pro Bono Counsel at Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, is being recognized for
her extraordinary contributions as a volunteer attorney, as a leader of Skadden’s outstanding pro bono program

and for her constant support to The Legal Aid Society and its clients. 

EXCEPTIONAL PRO BONO ASSISTANCE TO THE LEADERSHIP OF THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY
Jane Hanson - Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP

Jane Hanson, of Counsel to Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP, is being recognized for her tireless and dedicated work
alongside Legal Aid’s President, Attorney-In-Chief, General Counsel, Chief Human Resources Officer

and the Attorneys-in-Charge of the Criminal Defense, Civil and Juvenile Rights Practices. 

OUTSTANDING LAW FIRM ASSISTANCE TO THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY AND ITS CLIENTS

Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP • Chadbourne & Parke LLP • Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP

Cooley LLP • Covington & Burling LLP • Debevoise & Plimpton LLP

Dechert LLP • DLA Piper LLP (US) • Fitzpatrick, Cella, Harper & Scinto

Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP • Friedman Kaplan Seiler & Adelman LLP

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP • Jones Day • Kirkland & Ellis LLP

Latham & Watkins LLP • Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP

Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP • Patterson Belknap Webb & Tyler LLP

Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP • Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan LLP

Ropes & Gray LLP • Sidley Austin LLP • Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP • Susman Godfrey LLP • Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP

2016 PRO BONO PUBLICO AWARDS
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We are deeply grateful to the law firms, corporations, foundations and individuals for their support of The
Legal Aid Society and our core principle that no New Yorker should be denied access to justice because
of poverty. We are especially grateful to our Sustaining Law Firms for their steadfast annual support. 

The Legal Aid Society wishes to also recognize the members of the New Leadership Program (NLP) for their
enthusiastic support of the Society’s mission over the last year. The NLP builds on our traditional Associates’
Campaign for law firm associates with its innovative program comprised of young professionals from the legal,
financial, business and arts communities who have chosen the Society as one of their primary philanthropic
commitments. We thank the founding members of the New Leadership Board for their insight and generosity
and for being enthusiastic ambassadors of our mission. As this program continues to grow, we are excited to
welcome the next generation of dedicated young professionals.

Each year, the Society works on over 300,000 individual legal matters and provides law reform representation
which benefits all two million low-income children and adults in New York City and has both a Statewide and a
national impact. Our efforts in each of the five boroughs of the City to provide comprehensive legal assistance
and community-based services could not have been realized without the commitment of all of our supporters. 

Thank you for helping us make a difference in the lives of low-income New Yorkers.

THANK YOU TO OUR SUPPORTERS

SUSTAINING LAW FIRMS

Arnold & Porter LLP
Baker & Hostetler LLP
BuckleySandler LLP
Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft LLP
Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP
Chadbourne & Parke LLP
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP
Cooley LLP
Covington & Burling LLP
Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP
Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP
Debevoise & Plimpton LLP
Dechert LLP
DLA Piper LLP (US)
Fitzpatrick, Cella, Harper & Scinto
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer US LLP
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP
Friedman Kaplan Seiler & Adelman LLP
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
Goodwin Procter LLP
Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP
Jones Day
Kaye Scholer LLP
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP
Lankler Siffert & Wohl LLP
Latham & Watkins LLP
Mayer Brown LLP
Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP
Morvillo Abramowitz Grand Iason &
Anello P.C.
O’Melveny & Myers LLP
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP
Patterson Belknap Webb & Tyler LLP
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison
LLP
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP
Proskauer Rose LLP
Ropes & Gray LLP
Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP
Shearman & Sterling LLP
Sidley Austin LLP

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz
Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP
White & Case LLP
Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
Winston & Strawn LLP
Wollmuth Maher & Deutsch LLP

INSTITUTIONAL SUPPORT

$500,000+
Robin Hood Foundation
Robin Hood Foundation/Single Stop USA, Inc.

$100,000 to $499,999
Bernard F. and Alva B. Gimbel Foundation, Inc.
Center for Urban Community Services, Inc.
Chelsea Relief Fund
Estate of Tillie Fleischer
The Joseph H. Flom Foundation
Immigrant Justice Corps
The New York Bar Foundation
NoVo Foundation
The Scherman Foundation
Skadden Fellowhsip Foundation

$50,000 to $99,999
Ambrose Monell Foundation
Assurant, Inc.
BNY Mellon
The Charles Evans Hughes Memorial

Foundation, Inc.
Emery Celli Brinckerhoff & Abady LLP
Fund for the City of New York
Henry & Lucy Moses Fund, Inc.
Ira W. De Camp Foundation
MAC AIDS Fund
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP
The New York Community Trust
Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan, LLP
Travelers

$25,000 to $49,999
Bryan Cave LLP
Charles A. Frueauff Foundation, Inc.
Equal Justice Works
The Estée Lauder Companies, Inc.
Kelley Drye & Warren LLP
The Lucius N. Littauer Foundation
MasterCard 
Morgan Stanley 
Pfizer Inc.
Stroock & Stroock & Lavan LLP
Viacom Inc.

$10,000 to $24,999
Allen & Overy LLP
The Alice Lawrence Foundation, Inc.
Alvarez & Marsal
Carter Ledyard & Milburn LLP
Crowell & Moring LLP
The Edouard Foundation
Elephant Rock Foundation
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
Ira N. Langsan & Lillian Langsan

Philanthropic Fund
The Isak and Rose Weinman Foundation, Inc.
JPMorgan Chase & Co.
Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP
Kutz Family Foundation
Newmark Grubb Knight Frank
The Peter Jennings Foundation, Inc.
RSM US LLP
Wachs Family Fund
Willis Towers Watson

$5,000 to $9,999
Arthur J. Gallagher & Co.
Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann LLP
CBRE, Inc.
Charles S. Keene Foundation
Compass Lexecon
Credit Suisse
Edwin Gould Services for Children &

Families
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Equal Justice America
Goldfarb & Fleece LLP
Goldin Associates, LLC
Jack Resnick & Sons, Inc.
Jennifer and Mark Smith Charitable Fund
John O'Connor Charitable Gift Fund
Kolar Charitable Foundation of

BuckleySandler
The Leon Levy Foundation
Luskin, Stern & Eisler LLP
Malcolm Gibbs Foundation, Inc.
The Marc Wolinsky and Barry C. Skovgaard

Charitable Fund
Marjorie S. Isaac Charitable Lead Annuity

Trust
Nancy and Alan N. Locker Philanthropic

Fund
Seyfarth Shaw Charitable Foundation
Sidney and  Judith Kranes Charitable Trust
Sutherland, Asbill & Brennan LLP
United HealthCare Services, Inc.

$1,000 to $4,999
A & J Saks Foundation Inc.
The Abbey/ Dietz Family Fund
The Alfred and Jane  Ross Foundation
ALP Mayer Foundation
Andrew Miller Gift Fund
Barclays
Belson Family Fund
Bialkin Family Foundation
Brown Harris Stevens Residential Sales, LLC
Brunswick Group LLC
Calico Fund
The Cameron Clark Memorial Fund
Caplan Family Foundation Trust
Capra Ransom Family Giving Fund
Collazo Florentino & Keil LLP
Cornerstone Research
The Das Fund
Davidson, Dawson & Clark LLP
DecisionQuest
DeLaCour Family Foundation
Dentons
Edgeworth Economics, LLC
Edward and Marjorie Goldberger

Foundation
Eskin Living Trust
Farber Fund
Fross Zelnick Lehrman & Zissu, P.C.
Helenia Fund
The Howard Bayne Fund
Howard L. Ellin Charitable Trust
Jacques & Emy Cohenca Foundation, Inc.
JLB Charitable Fund
The Jonathan L. Cohen Foundation
Kaufman Revocable Trust
Kenneth Vittor and Judith Aisen Charitable

Fund
Kornblau Family Foundation
Labaton Sucharow LLP
The Lauder Foundation-Leonard &

Judy Lauder
The Liman Foundation
The Lincer Family Charitable Fund
Lynn S. Stern Fund
Mathews Family Fund
Max & Elisabeth Gitter Charitable Fund
Mertz Gilmore Foundation
Moses Silverman and Betty Robbins

Charitable Gift Fund
Murray and Phyllis Warschauer Fund

The O'Connell Family Fund
Estate of Genevieve O'Rouke
Outten & Golden LLP
The Pegram Family Fund
Peter and Helen Haje Foundation
Posel Foundation
Posner-Wallace Foundation
The P.T.M. Charitable Foundation
Quinn Mayo Fund
Ruth Norden Lowe and Warner L. Lowe

Memorial Fund
S. Stachelberg Liquidating TR
Schrag Family Fund
SMG Fund
The Steptoe Foundation
Stout Risius Ross, Inc.
The Tufenkian Foundation
Veritext Legal Solutions

INDIVIDUAL SUPPORT

$25,000+
Anonymous Donor
Thomas M. Cerabino
William R. Dougherty, Esq. and

Tara Dougherty
Patricia M. Hynes, Esq. and Roy L. Reardon, Esq.
Margery and Ted Mayer

$10,000 to $24,999
Eugene F. Assaf, Esq. and Liz McHenry
Stuart J. Baskin, Esq. and Linda Lennon Baskin
Pamela Rogers Chepiga, Esq. and

Michael J. Chepiga, Esq.
Mary P. Davis and Wesley P. Callender
Nan and Rich Davis
Marcy Engel, Esq. and Stuart M. Cobert, Esq.
Diane and Blaine V. (Fin) Fogg
Matthew S. Furman, Esq. and Judith B. Hecker
Elaine P. Golin, Esq.
David J. Greenwald, Esq.
John Louis Hardiman, Esq. and

Donna Ellen Hardiman
Ellen Kaplan
Jeffrey L. Kessler, Esq. and Regina D. Kessler
Daniel F. Kolb, Esq. and Ann C. Kolb
Barbara Gordon Landau
Susan B. Lindenauer and

Arthur A. Lindenauer
Jaime Mercado, Esq. and Andrea Everett 
Clare O'Brien, Esq. and  Peter M. Taubman, Esq.
Vincent Pagano, Jr., Esq. and Pam Pagano
Joel B. Rudin, Esq.
Robert C. and Elizabeth Sheehan
Jill and Jeremy Temkin
Peter C. Thomas, Esq.

$5,000 to $9,999
Mary Lu Bilek, Esq. and Aaron R. Marcu, Esq.
Garth W. Bray, Esq. and Kathryn H. Baxter
Joanne W. Cannella, Esq. and

Nicholas M. Cannella, Esq. 
Alex V. Chachkes, Esq.
Douglas F. Curtis, Esq. and Michaeline F. Curtis
Robert A. Fippinger, Esq. and Ann F. Kaplan
Mary Beth Forshaw, Esq. and Thomas Merrill
Eric J. Friedman, Esq. and Lori O. Friedman
Bess Thrope Goldring, Esq. and

Stuart J. Goldring, Esq.
Linda C. Goldstein, Esq. and Guy S. Manuel
Mark P. Goodman, Esq.
Jonathan H. Hatch, Esq.

James D. Herschlein, Esq. and
Marilyn Herschlein

Tracy Richelle High, Esq.
David G. Hille, Esq. and Marcella Hille
Victor L. Hou, Esq.
Mel M. Immergut, Esq. and Barbara Lyne
David G. Januszewski, Esq. and

Kim Januszewski
Daniel E. Katcher, Esq. and Michal Katcher
David L. Kornblau, Esq. and

Susannah T. Gardiner
Gillian L. Lester, JSD
Gary G. Lynch, Esq.
Randy M. Mastro, Esq. and

Jonine L. Bernstein, PhD
Roger Meltzer, Esq. and Robin Meltzer
Craig S. Mende, Esq.
Thomas C. Meriam, Esq. and Susan Meriam
Pamela A. Miller, Esq. and Gifford Miller
Jonathan M. Moses, Esq. and

Abigail Young Moses
Sara E. Moss and Michael Gould
A. Robert Pietrzak, Esq. and

Sharon Pietrzak
Betsy and Ken Plevan
Pearl Polifka, Esq. and Robert Polifka, Esq.
Morton Ribyat*
Thomas C. Rice, Esq. and Cheryl Christman
Melissa Salten Rothman, Esq. and

Richard A. Rothman, Esq.
Miles N. Ruthberg, Esq. and

Catherine Schreiber
William D. Savitt, Esq.
Jennifer Schneck
Bart R. Schwartz, Esq.
William J. Schwartz, Esq.
Carolyn & Bruce Silberstein on behalf of

the Silberstein Foundation
Jennifer S. Smith, Esq. and Mark Smith
Gary Stein, Esq. and Ana D. Stein
Christine A. Varney, Esq. and

Thomas J. Graham
Jonathan B. Whitney, Esq.
Lawrence E. Wieman, Esq.
Peter S. Wilson, Esq.

$1,000 to $4,999
Stewart D. Aaron, Esq.
Derek J. T. Adler, Esq. and Noreen Weiss Adler
Sheldon S. Adler, Esq. and Marcel Adler
John M. Aerni, Esq.
Mark H. Alcott, Esq. and Susan B. Alcott
Barry J. Alperin
Howard S. Altarescu, Esq.
Anonymous Donor
Anne Sargent Arcano, Esq. and

Stephen F. Arcano, Esq.
Kevin J. Arquit, Esq.
Ellen L. Asher
Diane and John Asiel
Honorable Phylis Skloot Bamberger and

Michael A. Bamberger, Esq. 
William D. Becker, Esq.
Rodman W. Benedict, Esq.
Sanjay Benegal
Bradley I. Berger, Esq.
Marilyn and Richard Berger
William B. Bice, Esq.
Peter A. Bicks, Esq. and Linda D. Bicks
Steven M. Bierman, Esq. and Jerrilyn Fleisher
Frances E. Bivens, Esq.
Lewis Black
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Helen Bodian and Roger E. Alcaly
Markus P. Bolsinger, PhD and

Cristin A. Bolsinger
Jacqueline L. Bonneau, Esq.
Darren A. Bowie, Esq.
Charles W. Bradley, Esq. and Dolores C. Bradley
Adam R. Brebner, Esq.
K. Mallory Brennan, Esq.
William B. Brentani, Esq. and Julia M. Brentani
Allan S. Brilliant, Esq. and Marcia Bellows
John Brooks
Lara Samet Buchwald, Esq.
Danzey Burnham, Esq.
Andrea R. Butler, Esq. and Jeff E. Butler, Esq.
Konrad L. Cailteux, Esq.
Michelle Carpentier, Esq. and Charlie Jacob, Esq.
William F. Cavanaugh, Jr., Esq. and

Mary Ellen Cavanaugh
Laura A. Chamberlain, Esq. and Mark J. Stein, Esq.
Cara A. Chambers, Esq. and Aaron Gal, PhD
James P. Chambers
Anne M. Champion, Esq. and Sean E. Fuller
Wai L. Chan, Esq. and  Duncan Murdoch
Constance L. Christensen, Esq. and

Henry Christensen III, Esq.
Lisa Elaine Cleary, Esq.
Eric L. Cochran, Esq. and Stacy S. Cochran
Dorothy Soranno Coco, MD and

Joseph A. Coco, Esq.
Sarah E. Cogan, Esq. and Douglas H. Evans, Esq.
Andrea Harris Cohen and Steven B. Cohen
Barbara and H. Rodgin Cohen, Esq.
Dennis O. Cohen, Esq.
J. Peter Coll, Jr, Esq.
Alexis S. Coll-Very, Esq.
Christopher P. Conniff, Esq. and

Susan D. Conniff
Michael A. Cooper, Esq. and Nan R. Cooper
Curtis Crenshaw
Stephen T. Crider, Esq.
Mark G. Cunha, Esq. and Kirsten N. Cunha
James Wilson Dabney, Esq.
Debra A. Dandeneau, Esq. and Jeffrey Matchen
George A. Davidson, Esq. and

Annette L. Davidson
Althea and John E. Dean, Esq.
Jessica K. Delbaum, Esq.
Elizabeth K. Derbes, Esq.
Gary A. DeWaal, Esq.
Susan F. DiCicco, Esq. and Robert C. Fermann, Esq.
Sue A. Dillport, Esq.
Molly M. Donovan, Esq.
Margaret H. Douglas-Hamilton, Esq.
Elyse Dreyer, Esq. and Anthony J. Dreyer, Esq.
Ellen M. Dunn, Esq. and Lawrence D. Appel
Agnes Dunogue, Esq. and Jason B. Zinoman
Carole S. Eisner and Richard A. Eisner
Martin Elias
Pamela L. Endreny, Esq. and Ray Endreny
Jane Engelhardt, Esq. and

Timothy K. Beeken, Esq.
John C. Ericson, Esq. and Jainee C. McCarroll
Beth Essig, Esq. and Jeffrey L. Braun, Esq.
Jose A. Esteves, Esq.
Curran B. Estreich
Steven L. Fasman, Esq. and Carol G. Fasman
Jay N. Fastow, Esq. and Alexsandra M. Davies
Andrew M. Faulkner, Esq. and Emily A. Fraenkel
Thomas M. Faust
Colin Fechter
Ellen L. Federman-Conklin
Warren L. Feldman, Esq.

Stuart M. Finkelstein, Esq. and Beth Finkelstein
Eric H. Fisher, Esq.
Blake Walters Foote and Andrew Swift Foote
Stephen G. Forgsta, Esq.
Harrison J. Frahn, Esq.
Melissa B. Francis, Esq. and David Mackler, Esq.
Andrew T. Frankel, Esq. and Nancy Frankel
Donald David Fried, Esq.
Barbara T. Friedman, Esq. and

Fredric N. Busch, MD
Bryce L. Friedman, Esq. and Angela M. Crossman
Honorable Marcy S. Friedman
Lawrence D. Frishman, Esq. and Ava Schoenberg
Elizabeth A. Fuerstman, Esq. and

Daniel H. Weiner, Esq.
John P. Furfaro, Esq. and Audrey R. Furfaro
Michael S. Gambro, Esq. and Joan Gambro
John L. Gardiner, Esq.
Laurie Garrett
Sarah Gartner, Esq.
Steven J. Gartner, Esq. and Donna S. Gartner
Diane M. Genova, Esq. and

Joseph Steven Genova, Esq.
Judith Ginsberg, PhD and Paul LeClerc, PhD
Franklin M. Gittes, Esq. and Marie H. Gittes
Amy Glickman, Esq. and Andrew P. Kuritzkes, Esq.
Paul C. Gluckow, Esq.
Jay M. Goffman, Esq. and Susan Goffman
Wendy M. Goldberg, Esq.
Bruce Goldner, Esq.
Willis J. Goldsmith, Esq. and

Marilynn J. Goldsmith
Philip Goldstein, Esq.
Steven F. Goldstone, Esq. and

Elizabeth Goldstone
Hector Gonzalez, Esq. and Aimee E. Gonzalez
Matthew B. Goodman, Esq.
Julie R. Gorla, Esq.
Philip L. Graham, Jr., Esq. and

Eileen Chiu Graham
Robert M. Grass, Esq.
Ward A. Greenberg, Esq. and

Marlene Van Dyk Greenberg
P. Maxwell Griffith, Esq.
William A. Groll, Esq. and Kathleen Groll
Joan B. Gross, Esq. and Stuart J. Gross, Esq.
Morton E. Grosz, Esq. and Judith Grosz
Christopher J. Gunther, Esq. and

Alice M. Gunther
Terence C. Hagerty
Eric B. Halper, Esq.
Patricia G. Hammes, Esq.
Serena B. Harding-Jones and William D. Lese
Shriram Harid, Esq.
Philip H. Harris, Esq. and Judith S. Grossman
Leesa Haspel, Esq.
Vilia B. Hayes, Esq.
Charles S. Hellman, Esq.
Betsy A. Hellmann, Esq. 
David C. Hepp, Esq.
Karen and Michael Hersch
Michael K. Hoffman, Esq.
Steven L. Holley, Esq.
Katharine A. Homans and Patterson Sims
Wade S. Hooker, Jr., Esq. and Susan L. Hooker
Kuangyan Huang, Esq.
Meghan McKee Hungate, Esq.
Elizabeth A. Hurry and Thomas R. Warren
Deidre N. Hykal, Esq. and George E. Hykal
Chris Stern Hyman, Esq.
Matthew D. Ingber, Esq. and Michelle Ingber
Jesse J. Jenner, Esq. and Tyler W. Jenner

Richard T. Joffe, Esq.
Robert J. Jossen, Esq. and Roni B. Jossen
Thomas Kahn, MD and Simi Kahn
Joshua Kalish, Esq.
Stacy J. Kanter, Esq. and Eric M. Kornblau, Esq.
Andrew R. Keller, Esq. and Judith A. Keller
David Kellman, MD
Charles L. Kerr, Esq. and Heather Thomas
Louis B. Kimmelman, Esq. and

Joy B. Kimmelman
John J. Kirby, Jr., Esq. and Susan R. Cullman
Alan M. Klein, Esq. and Martha Klein
Michael A. Kleinman, Esq.
Paige H. Klotz, Esq. and

Richard Jay Grossman, Esq.
Kristine M. Koren, Esq.
Janet B. Korins, Esq. and Joseph H. Kaufman, Esq.
Satya S. Korlipara
John G. Korman, Esq.
Warren S. Koster, Esq.
Amy L. Kreisberg, MD and

Michael D. Nathan, Esq.
James G. Kreissman, Esq.
Mark J. Kronman, Esq. and Barbara Kronman
Gary W. Kubek, Esq.
Lea H. Kuck, Esq. and Thomas A. Kuck
Jeremy Kudon, Esq.
Amy B. Kuhn, Esq. and Stuart L. Rosow, Esq.
Andrew M. Lacy, Esq.
Linda Bradshaw Lakhdhir, Esq. and

David K. Lakhdhir, Esq.
Arthur Lander, MD, PhD
Matthew L. Larrabee, Esq. 
Edwin C. Laurenson, Esq.
Cordelia Laverack and William Laverack Jr.
Michael Lebowitz
Cynthia R. Leder, Esq. and Jeffrey I. Glekel, Esq.
Lewis H. Leicher, Esq.
Walter F. Leinhardt, Esq.
Sarah Gibbs Leivick, Esq. and

S. Christopher Szczerban, Esq.
Abhay D. Lele, Esq. and Amy L. Johnson
Lori E. Lesser, Esq.
Andrew J. Levander, Esq. and Carol A. Loewenson
Jerome L. Levine, Esq. and Arlene Levine
Theodore A. Levine, Esq. and Lucia D. Swanson
Michael A. Levy, Esq. and Tara Walpert Levy
Joseph A. Lipari, Esq. and Louise E. Tranford
Gregory A. Litt, Esq.
William F. Lloyd, Esq. and Diane V. Lloyd
John Drake Lobrano, Esq. and

Helen M. Lobrano
Cynthia A. Loomis, MD, PhD and

Joseph Emmanuel Neuhaus, Esq.
Cynthia Fernandez Lumermann, Esq.
Brian G. Lustbader, Esq.
Susan Lyne
James R. MacCrate
Susannah J. Malen, Esq. and

Noah M. Leibowitz, Esq.
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Darin P. McAtee, Esq. and Millie McAtee
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Anthony M. Roncalli, Esq.
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Conray C. Tseng, Esq.
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Jonathan Kennard Youngwood, Esq.
Karen Apollo Ziman, Esq. and

Kenneth S. Ziman, Esq.
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June 30, 2016
(With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2015)

2016 2015
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 24,840,156  $     30,801,467  $     
Receivables from grants and governmental contracts 35,388,324         28,814,309         
Investments, at fair value 8,388,692           3,516,970           
Deferred charges and other assets 5,210,326           946,311   
Property and equipment, at cost, net  4,257,299           4,328,812           

Total assets 78,084,797  $     68,407,869  $     

Liabilities and Net Asset Deficiency

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,601,362  $       2,169,954  $       
Accrued payroll and other employee expenses 29,314,984         28,596,235         
Program advances 4,323   688,833   
Accrued postretirement health and benefits cost 47,853,880         33,633,487         
Pension liability 29,691,179         25,083,102         
Deferred lease incentives and lease obligations 17,074,401         17,721,811         

Total liabilities 125,540,129       107,893,422       

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets:
Unrestricted (53,161,802)        (44,349,150)        
Temporarily restricted 3,640,447           2,797,574           
Permanently restricted 2,066,023           2,066,023           

Total net asset deficiency (47,455,332)        (39,485,553)        

Total liabilities and net asset deficiency 78,084,797  $     68,407,869  $     

See notes to financial statements.

The Legal Aid Society

Statement of Financial Position
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The Legal Aid Society

Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2016
(With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2015)

2015
Summarized

Temporarily Permanently Comparative
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Total

Support and revenue:
Program support and revenue:

Criminal Defense Practice 158,880,114  $  1,194,638  $      -$                  160,074,752  $         153,103,977  $  
Juvenile Rights Practice 42,285,679        745,395             -                    43,031,074               42,322,535        
Civil Practice 37,657,928        3,335,342          -                    40,993,270               31,082,218        

Contributions (net of direct expenses 
related to the benefit) 13,596,646        15,490               -                    13,612,136               14,280,229        

Return (loss) on investments, net 19,619               (128,095)           -                    (108,476)                   97,292               
Court awards 85,335               -                    -                    85,335                      140,277             
Other income 30,366               -                    -                    30,366                      1,143                 
Net assets released from restrictions -

satisfaction of program and time restrictions 4,319,897          (4,319,897)        -                    -                            -                    
Total support and revenue before

in-kind contributions 256,875,584      842,873             -                    257,718,457             241,027,671      

Operating expenses:
Program services:

Criminal Defense Practice 147,546,554      -                    -                    147,546,554             142,042,734      
Juvenile Rights Practice 41,098,932        -                    -                    41,098,932               40,947,554        
Civil Practice 43,367,843        -                    -                    43,367,843               38,486,555        

Total program services before
in-kind contributions 232,013,329      -                    -                    232,013,329             221,476,843      

     
Supporting services: -                    -                    

Administrative expenses 13,763,393        -                    -                    13,763,393               13,647,055        
Fundraising expenses 884,321             -                    -                    884,321                    800,789             

Total supporting services 14,647,714        -                    -                    14,647,714               14,447,844        
 

Total operating expenses before
in-kind contributions 246,661,043      -                    -                    246,661,043             235,924,687      

Results of operations 10,214,541        842,873             -                    11,057,414               5,102,984          

In-kind contributions:
Revenue from legal services 86,659,097        -                    -                    86,659,097               80,299,098        
Program expenses from legal services (86,659,097)      -                    -                    (86,659,097)              (80,299,098)      

Total in-kind contributions -                    -                    -                    -                            -                    

Change in net assets before pension
liability adjustment 10,214,541        842,873             -                    11,057,414               5,102,984          

Pension and other postretirement-related changes:
Other than net periodic costs (19,027,193)      -                    -                    (19,027,193)              (5,176,965)        

Change in net assets (8,812,652)        842,873             -                    (7,969,779)                (73,981)             

Net assets (deficiency)
Beginning (44,349,150)      2,797,574          2,066,023          (39,485,553)              (39,411,572)      

Ending (53,161,802)  $  3,640,447  $      2,066,023  $      (47,455,332)  $          (39,485,553)  $  

See notes to financial statements.

2016
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Year Ended June 30, 2016
(with summarized financial information for the year ended June 30, 2015)

2016 2015
Cash flows from operating activities:

Change in net assets (7,969,779)  $      (73,981)  $           
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash used in

operating activities:
Amortization of deferred lease incentives (712,967)             (712,968)             
Amortization of deferred lease obligations 65,557                174,084              
Depreciation and amortization 974,504              1,359,206           
Realized and unrealized loss (gain) on investments 176,391              (15,768)               
Pension and other postretirement-related changes:

Other than net periodic costs 19,027,193         5,176,965           
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase in receivables from grants and governmental contracts (6,574,015)          (4,808,970)          
Increase in deferred charges and other assets (4,264,015)          (186,258)             
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses (568,592)             (46,539)               
Increase in accrued payroll and other employee expenses 718,749              1,528,673           
Decrease in program advances (684,510)             (6,069,512)          
Increase in accrued postretirement health and benefits cost 2,693,645           2,044,757           
Decrease (increase) in pension liability (2,892,368)          306,530              

Net cash used in operating activities (10,207)               (1,323,781)          

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of investments 1,376,266           551,512              
Purchase of investments (6,424,379)          (609,267)             
Purchases of property and equipment (902,991)             (1,202,659)          

Net cash used in investing activities (5,951,104)          (1,260,414)          

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,961,311)          (2,584,195)          

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning 30,801,467         33,385,662         

Ending 24,840,156  $     30,801,467  $     

See notes to financial statements.

The Legal Aid Society

Statement of Cash Flows
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 1. Organization 

The Legal Aid Society (the Society) is a not-for-profit corporation founded in 1876 that provides legal 
services to the indigent of New York City through a number of operating practices. The Criminal Defense 
practice, which provides the majority of trial level public defender services in New York City, as well as the 
Criminal Appeals and Parole Revocation defense programs, are financed through contracts with the City 
and the State of New York. The Juvenile Rights practice is financed principally through a contract with the 
Office of Court Administration of the State of New York. The Civil practice relies on contracts with 
agencies of the City and the State of New York and the federal government, as well as on financial 
support from the public, including foundations, law firms, corporations and individuals. 
 
Although the Society is not a governmental institution, it receives significant program revenue and other 
support through government contracts that are entered into on a periodic basis and are cancelable at any 
time. As a general rule, those contracts provide revenue to cover cash expenses of funded programs. 
 
In its fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 (FY16), the Society recognized an unrestricted operating surplus of 
$10.2 million and a negative cash flow of $5.9 million.  
 
The Society’s statement of financial position at June 30, 2016, shows cash and cash equivalents of 
$24.8 million, and working capital (excess of current assets over current liabilities) of $34.3 million. It also 
shows a net asset deficiency (excess of total liabilities over total assets) of $47.4 million, an increase of 
$7.9 million from June 30, 2015. The net asset deficiency results from the actuarial determinations of (i) 
the future obligations of the Society to pay postretirement health and benefit costs that incorporate 
projected short-term trends in healthcare cost increases that are expected to level off in the future and (ii) 
the future benefit obligations under the Society’s “frozen” defined benefit pension plan which, like many 
such plans around the country, is underfunded due to market conditions and the current low interest rate 
environment. 
 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of accounting: The financial statements of the Society have been prepared on the accrual basis 
of accounting. In the statement of financial position, assets and liabilities are presented in order of liquidity 
or conversion to cash and their maturity resulting in the use of cash, respectively. 
 
Financial statement presentation: The classification of a not-for-profit organization's net assets and its 
support and revenue is based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. The amounts 
for each of three classes of net assets - unrestricted, temporarily restricted and permanently restricted - 
are required to be shown in a statement of financial position and the amounts of change in each of those 
classes of net assets be displayed in a statement of activities. 
 
The net assets of the Society and changes therein are classified and reported as follows: 
 
Unrestricted: Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the 
Society is not subject to donor restrictions. Unrestricted amounts may be designated by the board of 
directors to cover any purposes determined by the Society. 
 
Temporarily restricted: Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by 
the Society is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that either expire by passage of time or can be 
fulfilled and removed by actions of the Society pursuant to those stipulations. When such stipulations end 
or are fulfilled, such temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets. 
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Permanently restricted: Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use 
by the Society is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor can be 
fulfilled or otherwise removed by actions of the Society. 
 
Use of estimates: In preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP), management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenue and expenses during the 
reported period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents: For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Society considers all 
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents, 
except for such investments purchased by the Society's investment managers as part of their long-term 
investment strategies. 
 
Collectibility of receivables: All receivables are due for collections within one year. 
 
Investments: Investments in equity and debt securities are stated at their fair values. Investment return is 
allocated among unrestricted and temporarily restricted net assets, based on donor restrictions or the 
absence thereof. Interest, dividends, and net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments are 
included in investment return in the statement of activities. 
 
Fair value: The Society follows Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 820-10, Fair Value Measurements, which provides a framework for measuring fair 
value under generally accepted accounting principles and applies to all financial instruments that are 
being measured and reported on a fair value basis. Accordingly, the Society classifies all its investments 
as Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3, depending on whether they can be valued by reference to published 
market prices.  
 
Property and equipment: Purchases of property and equipment in excess of $10,000 per unit are 
capitalized. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method and 
charged to expense over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging primarily from three to ten 
years. Property and equipment acquired with certain government contract funds are recognized as 
expenses pursuant to the terms of the contract in which the government funding source retains ownership 
of the property. 
 
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the 
lease, whichever is shorter. 
 
Program advances: Program advances represent advances from third parties for services not yet 
performed as well as funds received from government agencies in which the funds have been allocated 
with the agency’s agreement to cover future expenditures. 
 
Court awards: Funds are awarded by the courts to the Society in certain non-Legal Aid cases in which 
there are remaining class action settlement funds. The amount of such awards in any given year cannot 
be estimated in advance because these awards are dependent on whether there are such residual 
settlement funds in particular cases and whether the Society is designated as a recipient. Therefore, such 
revenue is recognized upon receipt. 
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Revenue and support: Contracts awarded by governmental agencies are recognized as revenue in the 
unrestricted net asset class as the related services are performed.  
 
The Society records as revenue the following types of contributions when they are received 
unconditionally, at fair value: cash, promises to give, certain contributed services and gifts of long-lived 
assets and other assets. Conditional contributions, including cost reimbursement grants, are recognized 
as support when the conditions on which they depend have been substantially met. 
 
 Contributions and promises to give are recorded as revenue when either cash is received or when 

donors make an enforceable promise to give. Contributions and promises to give are classified either 
as unrestricted, temporarily restricted or permanently restricted support, based on the donor's intent. 
 

 Contributed services provided by attorneys on a pro bono basis are recorded as revenue and 
expenses at fair value, based on the attorneys' average billing rates. 

 
A number of individuals have made a contribution of their time to serve on the Society's board of 
directors. The value of their contributed time is not reflected in the financial statements. 
 
Tax-exempt status: The Society is qualified as a Section 501(c)(3) tax-exempt organization under 
Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the IRC) and, accordingly, is not subject to federal income 
taxes. As a not-for-profit organization, the Society is also exempt from New York State and New York City 
sales and income taxes. The Society has been classified as a publicly supported charitable organization 
under Section 509(a)(1) of the IRC and qualifies for the maximum charitable contribution deduction for 
donors. 
 
Management evaluated the Society’s income tax positions and concluded that the Society had taken no 
uncertain income tax positions that require adjustments or disclosures to the financial statements. 
Generally, the Society is not subject to income tax examinations by the U.S. federal, state or local tax 
authorities for years before 2013, which is the standard statute of limitations look-back period. 
 
Functional allocation of expenses: The costs of providing the various programs and other activities 
have been summarized in the statement of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated to 
the programs and supporting services benefited. 
 
Concentration of credit risk: Financial instruments which potentially subject the Society to a 
concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. At various times, the Society 
has cash deposits at financial institutions that exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
insurance limits. The Society has not experienced any losses on these accounts. 
 
Prior-year summarized comparative information: The accompanying financial statements include 
certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total, but not by net asset class or functional 
expense classification. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, 
such information should be read in conjunction with the Society's financial statements for the year ended 
June 30, 2015, from which the summarized information was derived. 
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Subsequent events: The Society evaluates events occurring after the date of the financial statements to 
consider whether or not the impact of such events needs to be reflected or disclosed in the financial 
statements. Such evaluation is performed through the date the financial statements are available for 
issuance, which was November 21, 2016 for these financial statements. 
 
Recently issued accounting pronouncements: In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards 
Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), requiring an entity to 
recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers. The updated standard will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in 
U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective and permits the use of either a full retrospective or retrospective 
with cumulative effect transition method. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, which defers 
the effective date of ASU 2014-09 one year, making it effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2018. The Society has not yet selected a transition method and is currently evaluating 
the effect that the standard will have on the financial statements. 
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The guidance in this ASU 
supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new guidance, lessees are required to 
recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position for all leases with terms 
longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting 
the pattern of expense recognition in the statement of activities. The new standard is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Society 
is currently evaluating the impact of the pending adoption of the new standard on the financial 
statements. 
 
In August, 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14 —Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of 
Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities. The amendments in this ASU make improvements to the 
information provided in financial statements and accompanying notes of not-for-profit entities. The 
amendments set forth the FASB’s improvements to net asset classification requirements and the 
information presented about a not-for-profit entity’s liquidity, financial performance, and cash flows. The 
ASU will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Earlier adoption is permitted. 
Management has not evaluated the impact of this ASU on the financial statements. 
 
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15 - Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of 
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (A Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force).  
The amendments in this ASU provide guidance reducing diversity in practice in how certain cash receipts 
and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows under. The ASU will be 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2019.  Earlier adoption is permitted Management has not evaluated the 
impact of this ASU on the financial statements. 
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 3. Investments 

The fair value of the Society's endowment and other investments consists of the following: 
 

2016 2015

Cash equivalents  5,087,429  $     182,709  $        
Mutual funds 2,923,065         3,334,261         
U.S. fixed income 378,198            -                    

8,388,692  $     3,516,970  $      
 
The return (loss) on endowment and other investments shown in the accompanying statement of 
activities consists of the following: 
 

2016 2015

Interest and dividends    87,849  $          102,034  $        
Realized gain 46,614              86,706              
Unrealized loss (223,114)           (70,938)             
Investment fees  (19,825)             (20,510)             

(108,476)  $       97,292  $           
 
The Society's investments at June 30, 2016 and 2015 were held at one financial institution. 
 

Note 4. Fair Value 

The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. 
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the following 
three categories: 
 
Level 1: Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the 

New York Stock Exchange. 
 
Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, 

quoted prices in less active markets, or other observable inputs that can be corroborated by 
observable market data. Level 2 also includes derivative contracts whose value is determined 
using a pricing model with observable market inputs or can be derived principally from or 
corroborated by observable market data. 

 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments whose 

value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar 
techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant 
management judgment or estimation; Level 3 also includes observable inputs for nonbinding 
single-dealer quotes not corroborated by observable market data. 
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 4. Fair value (Continued) 

Investments and commercial paper stated at fair value at June 30 are as follows: 
 

2016 2015

Cash equivalents 5,087,429  $     182,709  $        
Mutual funds

U.S. large-cap equities 944,946            1,033,954         
U.S. mid-cap/small-cap equities 189,875            223,369            
International equities 919,160            1,093,534         
Core fixed income securities 869,084            983,404            

U.S. fixed income 378,198            -                    
Subtotal - investments 8,388,692         3,516,970         
Commercial paper(a) 11,100,000       17,400,000       

19,488,692  $   20,916,970  $    
 

(a) Commercial paper is classified as cash equivalent on the statement of Financial Position. 
 
The Society classifies all its investments as Level 1, except for U.S. fixed income which is classified as 
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.   
 
Mutual funds are valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares held by the Society at year-end.   
 
U.S. fixed income is valued based on the last reported bid price provided by broker-dealers. 
 
Commercial paper is a short-term unsecured promissory note issued by creditworthy corporations and 
banks. It earns competitive, market-determined yields/rates and is traded on all major exchanges. The 
commercial paper was issued by the financial institution at June 30, 2016 and 2015. 
 

Note 5. Contributions 

Contributions consisted of the following for each fiscal year: 
 

2016 2015

Contributions 10,672,319  $   10,442,540  $   
Benefits and special events 3,157,005         4,031,520         
Bequests  108,871            210,000            

      13,938,195         14,684,060   
Less related direct expenses (326,059)           (403,831)           

13,612,136  $   14,280,229  $   
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 6. Property and Equipment 

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are summarized as follows: 
 

2016 2015

Property and leasehold improvements 15,960,996  $   15,083,510  $   
Furniture and equipment         2,291,270           4,160,114   
Computer and technology         3,915,697           5,031,476   
Mobile outreach van            146,936              146,936   

22,314,899       24,422,036       
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (18,057,600)      (20,093,224)      

4,257,299  $     4,328,812  $      
 

Note 7. Commitments 

As of June 30, 2016, annual future minimum lease payments, which exclude payments based on pass-
through expenses and escalations under non-cancelable operating leases for all of the Society's facilities, 
are approximately as follows: 
 
Year ending June 30:

2017 15,100,000  $    
2018 15,600,000        
2019 16,100,000        
2020 16,300,000        
2021 16,600,000        
Thereafter 122,900,000      

202,600,000  $                                         
 
Several leases for office space contain escalation clauses related to the lessor's real estate taxes, utilities 
and other building operating expenses. During fiscal 2016 and 2015, the Society recognized increased 
occupancy expenses for additional space taken within several locations. The rental expense was 
approximately $14,010,000 and $13,470,000 for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
In 2004, the Society received net incentives from certain landlords of approximately $12,692,000 for the 
purchase of furniture and equipment and leasehold improvements, which is included in deferred lease 
obligations and lease incentives in the accompanying statement of financial position and is being 
amortized over 20 years, the term of the respective leases. 
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Note 8. Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

Temporarily restricted net assets are recorded throughout the course of the year on the statement of 
activities. Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes at June 30: 
 

2016 2015

Civil Practice 514,466  $        748,003  $        
Juvenile Rights Practice            631,305              391,675   
Criminal Defense Practice         1,013,619                14,115   
Endowment interest         1,322,857           1,450,947   
Other            158,200              192,834   

3,640,447  $     2,797,574  $      
 
The total of these net assets released from restriction due to satisfaction of time and purpose restrictions 
amounted to $4,319,897 and $4,535,456 during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 

Note 9. Permanently Restricted Net Assets 

The Society's endowment consists of 14 individual funds established for a variety of purposes. The 
endowments include only donor-restricted endowment funds. The Society's board of directors interprets 
the New York law as requiring that the Society classify the original value of gifts donated to the 
permanent endowment as permanently restricted net assets. Earnings on donor-restricted funds are 
classified separately as temporarily restricted net assets, until those amounts are appropriated for 
expenditure by the Society in a manner consistent with its spending policies pursuant to the donor 
restrictions. 
 
The board of directors has delegated authority to its Finance Committee to oversee the investment of the 
endowment assets with the objective of achieving capital growth and income stability. On an annual basis 
and consistent with its spending policy, the Society decides whether to appropriate endowment funds for 
expenditure as part of its annual budgeting process. There were no appropriations in the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. 
 
On a quarterly basis, the Finance Committee monitors the performance of the qualified investment 
professionals, the performance of the endowment and the objectives for and use of the earnings on the 
endowment to ensure that these are consistent with the directions of the donors and the mission of the 
Society. At least once a year, the Finance Committee reports to the board on these issues. 
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Note 9. Permanently Restricted Net Assets (Continued) 

Changes in endowment net assets for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 consist of:  
 

Temporarily Permanently
Restricted Restricted Total

Endowment net assets, at June 30, 2014 1,377,424  $     2,066,023  $     3,443,447  $     

Investment return
Investment gain 73,523              -                    73,523              

Total investment return 73,523              -                    73,523              

Endowment net assets, at June 30, 2015 1,450,947         2,066,023         3,516,970         

Investment return
Investment loss (128,090)           -                    (128,090)           

Total investment loss (128,090)           -                    (128,090)           

Endowment net assets, at June 30, 2016 1,322,857  $     2,066,023  $     3,388,880  $      
 

Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans 

All current employees of the Society are covered either by a defined contribution plan or by a multi-
employer pension plan. In addition, certain current management and nonunion employees who began 
their employment with the Society prior to December 1, 2004 are covered by the Society's retirement plan 
(the Retirement Plan), a defined benefit plan.  
 
Benefits under the Retirement Plan are generally based upon years of service and the salary of the 
employee. The assets of the Retirement Plan consist primarily of mutual funds. Effective July 1, 1999, the 
Society amended its Retirement Plan to include a cash balance feature and a lump-sum option. On 
November 30, 2004, the Society froze the accumulation of Retirement Plan benefits as part of its financial 
restructuring. The Retirement Plan was replaced by a defined contribution plan effective December 1, 
2004. 
 
Because of the Retirement Plan’s underfunding, the Society made contributions of $6,005,844 and 
$2,237,000 in fiscal 2016 and 2015, respectively.  
 
The Society made contributions to the defined contribution plan for nonunion employees of approximately 
$2,219,000 and $1,864,000 in fiscal 2016 and 2015, respectively.  
 
Pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement, the Society made contributions related to the Association 
of Legal Aid Attorneys defined contribution plan, which covers unionized staff attorneys, of $5,299,000 
and $5,045,000 in fiscal 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
Pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement that covers a number of its employees, the Society made 
contributions related to the Service Employees International Union, Local 1199 pension fund, which is a 
national multi-employer pension plan, of approximately $2,354,000 and $2,314,000 in fiscal 2016 and 
2015, respectively. 
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

The risks of participating in a multi-employer plan are different from single employer plans in the following 
respects: 
 
(a) Assets contributed to the multi-employer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to 

employees of other participating employers. 
 

(b) If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be 
borne by the remaining participating employers. 
 

(c) If the Society stops participating in the multi-employer plan, and continues in business, the Society 
could be required to pay an amount, referred to as withdrawal liability, based on the unfunded status 
of the plan.  

 
The legal name of the pension fund is 1199SEIU Health Care Employees Pension Fund. The 
EIN/Pension Plan Number is 13-3604862/001. The most recent Pension Protection Act (PPA) zone status 
available in 2015, 2014 and 2013 are for the plan's year-end at December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, 
respectively. For each of these years, the plan’s PPA zone status is “Green Zone”. The zone status is 
based on information that the Society received from the plan and is certified by the plan's actuary.  
Among other factors, plans in the red zone are generally less than 65 percent funded, plans in the yellow 
zone are less than 80% funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80 percent funded.  The funded 
percentages for these years are 87.5%, 90.7% and 91.7%, respectively. The expiration date of the 
collective bargaining agreement requiring contributions is September 30, 2018. There is no funding 
improvement plan or rehabilitation plan that has been implemented or pending. 
 
The Society’s participation in the plan for the annual period ended December 31, is outlined in the table 
below.  
 

Employer Greater Than
Year Contributions 5% of Total

2015 1,999,312         No
2014 2,520,854         No  

 
The Society also has other postretirement benefits plans covering substantially all its employees. The 
Society funds its postretirement benefits other than pensions on a pay-as-you-go basis. Such benefits 
consist of medical, dental, and vision premiums. 
 
In addition, the Society accounts for long-term disability benefits in accordance with ASC Topic 712, 
Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits. The costs recognized for long-term disability premiums in fiscal 
years 2016 and 2015 amounted to approximately $803,000 and $709,000, respectively. The 
corresponding costs recognized for the change in the long-term benefit obligation for healthcare in fiscal 
2016 and 2015 is ($208,000) and $603,000, respectively.  
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

2016 2015 2016 2015

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at 
 beginning of year 81,447,069  $      81,813,389  $      33,633,487  $      28,828,613  $      
Service cost -                       -                       1,126,993            959,946               
Interest cost 3,302,292            3,081,924            1,585,710            1,272,514            
Plan participants' contributions -                       -                       95,795                 83,202                 

Special Termination Benefits -                       -                       44,000                 -                       
Actuarial loss 6,463,658            2,521,128            12,085,842          3,182,232            
Benefits paid (5,054,333)           (5,969,372)           (717,947)              (693,020)              

Benefit obligation at 
end of year 86,158,686          81,447,069          47,853,880          33,633,487          

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at 
 beginning of year 56,363,967          59,453,665          -                       -                       
Actual return on plan assets (242,923)              1,297,587            -                       -                       
Employer contributions 6,005,844            2,237,124            622,152               609,818               
Plan participants' contributions -                       -                       95,795                 83,202                 
Benefits paid  (5,054,333)           (5,969,372)           (717,947)              (693,020)              
Expenses paid (605,048)              (655,037)              -                       -                       

Fair value of plan assets 
at end of year 56,467,507          56,363,967          -                       -                       

Funded status at end of year (29,691,179)  $     (25,083,102)  $     (47,853,880)  $     (33,633,487)  $     

Plan Benefits Health and Benefits
PostretirementRetirement
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

June 30, 2016 2015 2016 2015

Amounts recognized as liabilities
 in the statement of financial position (29,691,179)  $       (25,083,102)  $       (47,853,880)  $       (33,633,487)  $       

Amounts recognized as cumulative
 Changes in pension and other
 Postretirement costs other
 than net periodic costs:

Prior service credit -$                       -$                       91,793  $               149,576  $             
Net actuarial loss 40,211,476            32,711,031            23,869,544            12,285,013            

Net amount recognized 40,211,476  $        32,711,031  $        23,961,337  $        12,434,589  $        

Components of net benefit cost:
Components of net periodic
 benefit cost:

Service -$                       -$                       1,126,993  $          959,946  $             
Expense 680,000                 620,000                 -                         -                         
Interest 3,302,292              3,081,924              1,585,710              1,272,514              
Expected return (loss) on plan assets  (4,119,842)             (4,286,396)             44,000                   -                         
Amortization of prior service cost -                         -                         57,783                   57,783                   
Amortization of losses 3,251,026              3,128,126              501,311                 364,332                 

Net periodic cost 3,113,476              2,543,654              3,315,797              2,654,575              

Changes in pension and
 postretirement costs other than
 net periodic costs

Prior service credit -                         -                         (57,783)                  (57,783)                  
Net loss 7,500,445              2,416,848              11,584,531            2,817,900              

Net other than periodic cost 7,500,445              2,416,848              11,526,748            2,760,117              

Net benefit cost 10,613,921  $        4,960,502  $          14,842,545  $        5,414,692  $          

Postretirement
Plan Benefits Health and Benefits

Retirement

LAS AR 2016 Text Rev.qxp_Layout 1  11/28/16  10:53 AM  Page 18



19

The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

During fiscal 2016, the mortality table was updated to the RP-2015 Mortality Table to reflect more recent 
data published by the Society of Actuaries. 
 
Weighted-average assumptions to determine benefit obligations at June 30: 
 

2016 2015 2016 2015

Discount rate 3.45% 4.25% 3.90% 4.90%

Retirement Postretirement
Plan Benefits Health and Benefits

 
 
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost at June 30: 
 

2016 2015 2016 2015

Discount rate 4.25% 4.00% 4.90% 4.60%
Expected return on plan assets 7.65% 8.00% N/A N/A

Plan Benefits Health and Benefits
Retirement Postretirement

 
 
The assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the 
healthcare plans. For measurement purposes, the assumed rates for future increases in healthcare, 
which is based on national trends, is 6.95 % in 2017 and was 7.65% in 2016. The 6.95% rate in 2017 is 
expected to gradually decline to 4.75% in 2024. 
 
The effect of a one-percentage-point change in the healthcare cost trend rate on the year-end 
postretirement health benefit obligation and total service and interest cost components for the year ended 
June 30, 2016 is as follows: 
 

One- One-
Percentage- Percentage-

Point Point
Decrease Increase

Year-end postretirement health benefit obligation (9,534,000)  $    12,867,000  $   
Total of service and interest cost components (549,000)           744,000             
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)  

The following benefit payments which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be 
paid as follows: 
 

Postretirement
Retirement Health 

Year ending June 30: Plan Benefits Benefits

2017 6,695,841  $     820,000  $        
2018 6,186,675         843,000            
2019 6,257,264         920,000            
2020 6,492,510         901,000            
2021 6,029,571         996,000            
2022 - 2026 27,514,604       6,652,000          

 
The Society has adopted a policy for the investment of the assets of the Retirement Plan, which is 
administered by, and may be altered by, the Retirement and Benefits Committee of the Society’s board of 
directors. The investment policy has been established to consider both the current and projected financial 
requirements of the Retirement Plan. The Retirement Plan relies on a total return strategy in which 
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current 
yield (interest and dividends). The Retirement Plan uses a balanced asset allocation including both 
equity-based and fixed income investments to achieve its long-term objectives. Those objectives are: 
 
 Maximize return within reasonable and prudent levels of risk of loss of principal. 

 Maintain sufficient liquidity to meet benefits payment obligations on a timely basis. 
 
The portfolio approach for the Retirement Plan is to maintain a balance of approximately 60% in equities 
and 40% in fixed income. Equity securities include investments in mutual funds invested in large-, mid-, 
and small-cap companies located in the United States and internationally. Fixed income securities are 
comprised of mutual funds invested in low-risk interest-bearing investments.  
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)  

The fair value of the Retirement Plan's investments at June 30, 2016 and 2015 (all of which are Level 1 – 
see Note 2), by asset category, are as follows: 
 

% %
2016 2015 2016 2015

Cash equivalents 5,376,443  $     1,173,768  $     9.5% 2.1%

Mutual funds:
Large-cap 16,168,847             18,393,260   28.6% 32.6%
Mid-cap 4,955,831                 4,927,952   8.8% 8.7%
Small-cap 2,802,475                 3,341,209   5.0% 5.9%
International 5,802,094                 6,038,706   10.3% 10.7%
Emerging markets 1,861,209                 2,894,818   3.3% 5.1%
Equity REITs 823,553                       885,493   1.5% 1.6%
Indexed trust fund 406,658                       466,759   0.7% 0.8%
Fixed income 18,270,397             18,242,002   32.4% 32.5%

56,467,507  $   56,363,967  $   100% 100%

Identical Assets (All Level 1)
in Active Markets for

Fair Value Using Quoted Prices 

 
 
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.  
 
Mutual funds: Valued at the net asset value held by the Retirement Plan at year-end.  
 
The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Plan believes that its valuation 
methods are appropriate and consistent with those of other market participants, the use of different 
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a 
different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 
 

Note 11. Contingencies 

There are a number of pending legal actions against the Society which, in the opinion of management, 
will not result in material loss to the Society and no amounts have been accrued in the accompanying 
financial statements for such contingency. 
 
As of June 30, 2016, receivables from grants and governmental contracts include accrued revenue 
aggregating approximately $2,400,000 from unexecuted and/or unregistered contracts with the state/city 
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Note 11. Contingencies (Continued) 

Certain grants and contracts are currently subject to and may be subject to audit by the funding sources. 
Such audits might result in disallowances of costs submitted for reimbursement. Management is of the 
opinion that such cost disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the accompanying financial 
statements. Accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the accompanying financial statements for 
such potential claims. 
 
 

LAS AR 2016 Text Rev.qxp_Layout 1  11/28/16  10:53 AM  Page 22



Diane Kelly, Maryann Kenney, Melvin Kenny, Sarah Kerr, Andrew Keshner, Eve Kessler, Kawsar Khan, Sabina Khan, Saleem Khan, Sohani Khan, Zoe Kheyman, Afsane Khot, Ragni Kidvai, Carolyn Kim, Hyeji Kim, Mary
Kim, Mihea Kim, Thomas Kim, Aisha King, Danielle King, Susan Kingsland, Doreen Kirwan, Emily Kitay, Benjamin Klein, Thomas Klein, Sharon Kleinhandler, Kathryn Kliff, Michael Klinger, Helen Kloogman, Philippe
Knab, Douglas Knepper, Desiree Knight, Lisa Koinig, Ryan Koleda, Teresa Kominos, Svetlana Kornfeind, Joyce Korn-Winderman, Daniella Korotzer, Marion Koshy, Estajo Koslow, Hayley Koteen-Lichterman, Pooja
Kothari, Beth Krause, Lucille Krebsbach, Gillian Kress, Scott Krischke, Jesse Kropf, Andrew Kudysch, Rebecca Kurti, Steven Kuza, Carolyn Kwon, Diane La Gamma, Noreen Labajo, Meghan Lacey, Martin LaFalce, Sabrina
Lall, Alice Lam, Stacy Lam, Brian Lamb, Lori Landowne, Josette Lang, Robert Langdon, Patrick Langhenry, Sumani Lanka, Victoria LaSalle, Julie Last, Leigh Latimer, Julia Lau, Peter Laumann, Patricia Lavelle, Joseph
Lavine, Simone Lawson, Misa Le, Felicia Leak, Jennifer Leao, Robyn Lear, Rachel Leary, Valerie LeBrew, JoAnn LeBright, Daniel Lee, Jeff Lee, Nahye Lee, Sungso Lee, Young Lee, Joanne Legano-Ross, Sarah Legler,
Katherine Leidel, Sabieta Lekhraj, Marty Lentz, Adrian Lesher, Michael Letwin, Nickeitta Leung, Jordana Levey, Allison Levie, Clifford Levin, Benjamin Levine, Steven Levine, Robin Levinson-Zalewski, Karen Levit,
Jane Levitt, Sharona Levitt, Ezra Levy, Rachel Levy, Samuel Levy, Allison Lewis, Donna Lewis, Dorothy Lewis, Hannah Lewis, Jennifer Lewis, Michael Lewis, Aisha Lewis-McCoy, Tashi Lhewa, Cynthia Li, Diana Li,
Courtney Libon, Rachel Lichtman, Joseph Licitra, Laura Lieberman-Cohen, Susan Light, Vicki Light, Justin Lim, Lisa Lin, Margaret Lin, Martha Lineberger, Lawrence Linzer, Nancy Little, Paul Liu, Elizabeth Loebman,
Melissa Loehr, David Loftis, Elizabeth Logan, Kalah Lomax, Michele Lombardo, Tania Lopez Zaldivar, Alejandra Lopez, Armando Lopez, Digna Lopez, Eileen Lopez, Mayzabeth Lopez, Melinda Lopez, Michael Lopez,
Zoraida Lopez, Masai Lord, Sharon Lowe, Marianna Lowenfeld, Allison Lowy, Adam Lubow, Danielle Lucas, Gordon Ludwig, Sheree Lukowicz, Julia Lum, Renate Lunn, Shirley Luong, Justine Luongo, Tyler Lurie-Spicer,
Megan Luzier, Douglas Lyons, Erwin Ma, Evan Ma, Ying-Ying Ma, Keri Mabry, Alexandra MacDougall, Lorraine Maddalo, Jacob Madubuko, Alma Magana, Jillaine Maillet, Shavonn Mainor, Zoie Mair, Evelyn Malave,
Yvette Malave, Tiffany Malcolm, Kathleen Maloney, Leah Maloney, Amber Malott, Eileen Malunowicz, Andrew Mandel, Melissa Mandor, Leigh Mangum, Sarah Manley, Aurora Maoz, Ian Marcus Amelkin, Carlos
Marquez Salazar, Lissette Marquez, Brunilda Marrero, Nizaly Marrero, Amber Marshall, Torey Marston, Brad Martin, Leah Martin, Vanita Martin, Yasmina Martin, Helen Martinez, Jocelyne Martinez, Jose Martinez,
Maria Martinez, Mariella Martinez, Maximino Martinez, Mildred Martinez, Pauloma Martinez, Katheryne Martone, James Martorano, Lori Masco, Anna Masliakova, Alicia Mason, Bobette Masson-Churin, Amee
Master, Titus Mathai, Adriana Matias, Nancy Matos-Rodriguez, Alexandra Matta, Isabel Mattina, Julia Mattson, Natalie Maust, Rita Mavunda, Priscilla Mayorga, Prudencio Maysonet, Thomas Mc Call Jr, Edward Mc
Carthy, E'Shondra Mc Clendon-Smith, Colette Mc Crae, Dorothy Mc Donald-Starace, Lorraine Mc Evilley, Patricia Mc Govern, Melissa Mc Grane, Sheneka Mc Kenzie Sage, Irmin Mc Kenzie, Lena Mc Mahon, Tara Mc
Manus, Tracy Mc Neil, Joseph McBride, Thomas McCall, David McCallum, Margaret McClean, Anjole McDermott, Charles McDonald, Jaquanna McDonald, Deborah McGee, Natoya McGhie, Amelia McGovern, Caroline
McGrath, Michelle McGrath, Carlie McGuigan, Christine McKeithan, Tiffany Mckellar, Caitlin McLaughlin, Julia McNally, James McQueeney, Steven Mechanic, Sasha Medero, Demaris Medina, Samuel Medina, Alice
Meehan, Alexandra Meeks, Eric Meggett, Stacy Meisner, Irene Melendez, Luisa Melian, Rosa Mendez, Arthur Mendola, Donovan Mendoza, Jean-Gladys Mensah, Margarita Menuar, Madeleine Mercer, Fern Merenstein,
Claire Merkine, Henry Meyer, Katherine Meyer, Simone Meyer, Ajene Meyers, Kathleen Meyers, Richard Meyerson, Stephanie Michael, Jennifer Michaelson, Aviva Michelman-Dumas, Kevin Michels, Justyna Mielczarek,
Caroline Miller, Ezra Miller, Lamar Miller, Sarah Miller, Lynette Miller-Volel, Guy Mills, Saundra Mills, James Mingo, Jenna Minor, Tatyana Mints, Sharon Miodovsky, Steven Miraglia, Christina Miranda, Jean Miranda,
Heather Misterka, David Mitchell, Dawne Mitchell, Peter Mitchell, Renee Mittler, Hoda Mitwally, Robert Moeller, Kate Mogulescu, Cesar Molina, Cynthia Molina-Santos, Marie Mombrun, Edgar Monasterio, Curtis
Moner, Lauren Monosoff, Britney Monroe, Edwin Montano, Jennifer Montenegro, Anna Montgomery, Paul Montgomery, Claudia Montoya, S Moody, Daniel Moore, Geno Moore, Hermine Moore, Madeline Moore,
Mara Moradoff, Ana Morales, Jessica Morales, Jose Morales, Hellen Moreira, Lorca Morello, Jennifer Moreno, Florence Morgan, Shaquara Morgan, Martin Morris, Susan Morris, Roslyn Morrison, Theresa Moser, Atusa
Mozaffari, Michael Mrnacaj, Edwin Muarip, Allan Muchnik, Autumn Mukhopadhyay, Katherine Mullen, Vanity Muniz, Fay Munro-Cole, Helen Munro-Singleton, Gabriel Munson, Tomoeh Murakami-Tse, Joyce Murphy,
Michael Murphy, Eileen Murphy-Zadoff, Kathryn Murray, Michael Murray, Stephen Myers, Toni Myers, Cortney Nadolney, Erin Nagy, Daniel Nakos, Anyika Nance, Shanti Narra, Bharati Narumanchi, Beth Natale, Lorin
Nathan, Angela Navarro, Maria Navarro, Marie Ndiaye, John Needham, Erin Neff, Judimar Negron-Reyes, Kenwyn Nelson, Edda Ness, Diana Nevins, John Newbery, Lucy Newman, Robert Newman, Craig Newsom,
Elizabeth Newton, John Newton, Caroline Ng, Kensing Ng, Steve Nguyen, William Nicholas, Claire Nicolay, Anna Niewdach, Jamie Niskanen-Singer, Yvonne Nix, Thomas Nixon-Friedheim, Michelle Noah, Jean Pierre
Nogues, Sunny Noh, Ariane Nolfo, Sateesh Nori, Joshua Norkin, Linda Norona, Ilan Norwood, Russell Novack, Rebecca Novick, Edwin Novillo, John Novoa, Tyrone Nurse, Grace Oboma-Layat, David O'Brien, Thomas
O'Brien, Megan O'Byrne, David Ocasio, Judy Ocasio, John O'Connell, Randi O'Donnell, Niamh O'Flaherty, Oona O'Flaherty, Kelli Ogbuzuo, Lisa Ohta, Jubril Oladiran, Sarah O'Leary, Ward Oliver, Milagros Oliveras,
Michelleann Oliveros, Efrain Olmo, Margaret O'Marra, Kristy O'Neill, Forabo Onoge, Tochi Onyebuchi, Migdalia Orengo, Eliza Orlins, Rosalie Orta, Michele Ortiz, Miguel Ortiz, Orlando Ortiz, Wilberto Ortiz-Batista,
Florence Otaigbe, Benigno Otano, Allison Ottley, Zulay Oyarvide, Juni Ozzengett, Eliza Pacheco, Melissa Padilla, Christina Paige, Christina Paliogiannis, Girish Panchal, Rashmi Panchal, Damjan Panovski, Ivan Pantoja,
Srividya Pappachan, Crystal Parham, Eun Hai Park, Jenny Park, Chant'a Parker, Teleakie Parker, Sean Parmenter, Norman Parrish, Michael Pate, Anjali Pathmanathan, Carina Patritti, Lionel Patterson, Vanessa Paugh,
Emily Paul, Melissa Paul, Diane Pazar, Rebekah Pazmino, Robert Peck, Rachel Pecker, Arthur Peeples, Luis Pena-Navarro, Rebeka Penberg, Mary Peppito, Damelsa Peralta, Julia Perez Rosales, Ana Perez, Ingrid Perez,
Joshua Perez, Ricardo Perez, Sarah Perez, Sebastian Perez, Michael Perkins, Cornelius Perry, Deanna Perry, Tiffany Pesante, Pamela Peters, Mykiel Peterson, Teers Peterson, Polixene Petrakopoulos, Gislaine Phillip,
Vance Phillip, Vincent Phillips, Valeria Philpot, Laura Pico Pinto, James Pierce, Yveka Pierre, Hayley Pine, Michael Pineiro, Monica Pinnock, Mary Pinto, Christopher Pisciotta, James Pitt, Lisa Pitts, Soula Platis, Lisa
Podemski, Stephen Pokart, Benjamin Polin, Ramzia Polizzi, Deborah Pollack, Jennifer Pollan, Tristan Pollard, Robert Pomeroy, Amy Pont, Katherine Poor, Stephanie Pope, Tyron Pope, Ronald Popo, John Poppe, Allen
Popper, Emily Poppish, Madeline Porta, Marvin Posada, Linda Postell, Meagan Potter, Laura Potter-Cahn, Anne Poulos, Eric Poulos, Frederic Pratt, Zenobia Prattis-Montgomery, Judith Preble, Anton Pribysh, Catherine
Price, Risa Procton, Timothy Pruitt, Gene Pudberry, Eric Quang, Raymond Queliz Jr., Alice Quinn, Michelle Quinn, Veronica Quinones, Lillian Quintana, Ruben Quiterio, Sara Raftery, Kristal Ragbir, Christina Raj, Amber
Ramanauskas, Stephanie Ramdhari, Cristina Ramirez, Edwin Ramirez, Heather Ramirez, Jasmine Ramirez-Burgos, Jadera Ramirez-Garcia, Ushadevi Ramjit, Stephanie Ramos, Aida Ramos-Herrera, Rolston Ramsammy,
Ashley Ramsden, Jess Rao, Michael Raskin, Kyla Ratliff, Aaron Ratoff, Philip Rauch, Kai-lin Rausch, Ora Raymore-Kenlock, Natalie Rea, Katherine Redmon, Gretchen Reeser, Cristal Regalado, Brandon Reim, Marcus
Reina, Sara Reisberg, Alison Reisner, Brendan Relyea, Jane Remler, Wendy Remy, Beth Rennekamp, Kenny Rey, Marie Reyes, Susan Reyes, Yadilza Reyes, Nooreen Reza, Alex Reznik, Alexandra Rhodd, Rania Riad,
Victor Richards, Cassandra Richardson, Joseph Richardson, Tonya Ricketts-De La Rosa, Tasha Ricks, Elizabeth Rieser-Murphy, Katie Ringer, Jennifer Ritter, Alfredo Rivera, Arlene Rivera, Cynthia Rivera, Diego Rivera,
Janet Rivera, Jeffrey Rivera, Joseph Rivera, Migdalia Rivera, Nicholas Rivera, Ricardo Rivera, William Rivera, Yevgeniya Rivkina, Patricia Rixey, Jennifer Rizzuto, Elena Roberts, Lauren Roberts, Rodney Roberts, Samuel
Roberts, Holly Robertson, Evi Robinson, Kasandra Robinson, Sarah Robinson, Stacey Robinson, Whitney Robinson, Gloria Robles, Yolanda Robles, Hara Robrish, Evan Rock, Ana Rodriguez, Angelica Rodriguez, Edwin
Rodriguez, Heidy Rodriguez, Jacqueline Rodriguez, Lia Rodriguez, Miriam Rodriguez, Osvaldo Rodriguez, Rosanna Rodriguez, Elana Roffman, Patricia Rogers, Raymond Rogers, Daniella Rohr, Jacob Rolls, Luis Roman,
Rosemary Roman-Hare-Bey, Claudia Romano, Cristina Romero, Michael Rooney, Angela Rosa, Jose Rosado, Krystal Rosado, Mignon Rosales, Angel Rosario, Sylvia Rosario, Magda Rosa-Rios, Jeffrey Rose, Emma
Rosenberg, Mimi Rosenberg, Scott Rosenberg, Lydia Ross, Alana Roth, Tiffany Rothenberg, Maria Roumiantseva, Timothy Rountree, Larrisa Rouse, Joelle Roussine, Joy Royaux, Ralph Roye, Gail Rozansky, Michael
Ruben, Abraham Rubert-Schewel, Paulette Rubinsky, Scott Rudnick, Ishrat Ruhi, Hector Ruiz, Deborah Rush, Laura Russell, Dawn Ryan, Theodora Saal, Ellen Sacks, Megumi Saito, Rachel Salazar, Melissa Salce, Diana
Salierno, Bulban Salim, Desiree Salomone, Lori Salyer, Victoria Salzano, Catherine Sam, Jane-Roberte Sampeur, Syshawn Samuel, Jacqueline Samuels-Jaffee, Christine Sanchez, Kimberly Sandberg, Gloria Sanders,
Ronald Sanders, Sara Sanders, Ellen Sandhaus, Darius Sanford, Nilsa Saniel, Carol Santangelo, Rodrigo Santelices, George Santiago, Joseph Santiago, Priyadarshni Sapru, Eugene Sarchiapone, Louis Sartori, Heather
Saslovsky, Martha Saunders, Gerard Savage, Debra Scarlett, Randall Schaefer, Regina Schaefer, Kenneth Schaeffer, Julie Schaul, Joshua Scheier, Andrea Schlissel, Jeremiah Schlotman, Joel Schmidt, Cynthia Schmits,
Stacy Schneider, Ariel Schneller, John Schoeffel, Jeanne Schoenfelder, Mark Scholl, Luke Schram, Caryn Schreiber, Nicolas Schumann-Ortega, Kristina Schwarz, Ryan Schwarz, Steven Schwarz, Talisha Scism, Eric
Scott, Jean Scott, Matthew Scott, Zaida Scott, Marcia Seckler, Samantha Seda, Jacob Segall, Raul Segundo, Benjamin Seibel, Douglas Seidman, Keith Seidman, David Seman, Julie Sender, Amy Serlin, Susan Sevin,
Katherine Sexton, Emily Shaffer, Hasan Shafiqullah, Bejal Shah, Meena Shah, Taramanie Shakur, Taylor Shann, Stephanie Shapiro Marden, Peter Shapiro, Rita Shapiro, Irwin Shaw, Monica Sheehan, Yuval Sheer,
Desiree Sheridan, Anna Sherman-Weiss, Firdos Shircliff, Stefen Short, Jane Shortell, Diana Shum, Cynthia Sichenze, Diana Sidakis, Nakeeb Siddique, Fazeela Siddiqui, Naila Siddiqui, Debra Siegel, Samantha Siegel,
Sarah Siegel, Steven Silberblatt, Elana Silberman, Jennifer Siletti, Carolyn Silvers, Anna Sim, Clark Simpkins, Christina Simpson, Kayla Simpson, Anique Singer, Gurmeet Singh, Jagmeet Singh, Reshamjeet Singh,
Riti Singh, Chantel Singleton, Kimberly Skadan, Shana Skaletsky, Sherine Skariah, Brian Slater, Shervon Small, Dorothy Smalls, Samantha Smalls, Jason Smallwood, David Smiley, Alexander Smith, Alexandra Smith,
Asha Smith, Chanel Smith, Clay Smith, Denzil Smith, Edwina Smith, Elizabeth Smith, Heather Smith, Jennifer Smith, Jodi Smith, Mavis Smith, Natalie Smith, Sondra Smith, Todd Smith, Marvin Sobers, Christopher
Sokoloski, Gary Solomon, Adan Soltren, Savendra Somdat, Stephen Somerstein, Kyung-Rak Son, Meridith Sopher, Robert Soriano-Hewitt, Juan Sosa Iglesias, Mark Soto, Megan Sparks, Paul Sparks, Ian Spiridigliozzi,
Scott Spivak, Heather Squatriglia, Dan-Devarha St Juste, Christian St. Claire, Anna Stallmann, Adam Starritt, Laura Stasior, Robert Staten, Jawaid Stationwala, Tamara Steckler, Rebecca Stegman, Kerry-Ann Stephen,
Kenneth Stephens, Sade Stephenson, Daniel Stern, David Stern, Judith Stern, Susan Sternberg, Robert Stevenson, Nicole Steward, Gwnasia Stewart, Bess Stiffelman, Barbara Stock, Deirdre Stokes, Jonathan Stonbely,
Alexander Stone-Tharp, Tyesha Storey, Lucille Stroup, Carolyn Stuart, Lisa-Ann Stuart, Elaine Stulbaum, Rui Su, Stacy-Ann Suckoo, Evan Sugar, Jeffrey Sugarman, Thomas Summers, Dian Susilowati, Alice Swenson,
Amy Swenson, Abigail Swenstein, Andrew Sy, Dorine Sylvester, Ronald Sylvestre, Tracey Tae, Stacy Taeuber, Mani Tafari, Michael Taglieri, Tanya Talaba, Sabrina Talukder, Rachel Tamaroff, Zachary Tanner, Jose Tapias,
Ian Tarasuk, Bret Taylor, Cynthia Taylor, Maria Taylor, Margaret Teich, Michael Teitel, Shane Tela, Patricia Telfort, Amanda Tenerella-Brody, Richard Terrazas, Dodd Terry, Stephen Terry, Doralee Then, Mikos Theodule,
Alicia Thomas, Anthony Thomas, Frances Thomas, Jessica Thomas, Megan Thomas, Amber Thompson, Cheryl Thompson, Germain Thompson, Mikila Thompson, Shanice Thompson, Raynita Thornton, Maria Tihin,
Casandra Tolentino, Carina Tong, Sarah Topolski, Marilyn Toro, Azalia Torres, Carmen Torres, Grace Torres, Jessica Torres, Joseph Torres, Richard Torres, Victor Torres, Jason Tortora, Daniele Tortoriello, Eugene Toussaint,
Shushana Tracey, Sarah Trent, Lisa Trentacosti, Casey Trimble, Rekha Trivikram, Matthew Tropp, Danielle Troumouliaris, Jared Trujillo, Andrew Tso, Lisa Tuntigian, Alexander Turbin, Howard Turman, Garvey Turnier,
Kristopher Tyndall, Ferdinand Ubozoh, Munonyedi Ugbode, Jesse Uhrman, Louis Ullrich, Anna Ulrich, Beth Unger, Mia Unger, Liliana Vaamonde, Devi Vairavan, Jennifer Valentin, Sandrine Valentine, Maria Valvik,
Ellen Van Cleave, Norah Van Dusen, Laura Van Wyk, Louis Varela, Magdalena Varela, Ghislaine Vargas, Daniel Vasquez, Marlene Vasquez, Joseph Vayas, Diana Vaynshenker, Anna Vaysleyb, Alexandria Vega, Edwin
Vega, Pedro Vega, Veronica Vela, Ana Velez, Sophia Velez, Rosemary Vellucci, Dale Ventura, Antonio Villaamil, Hernscica Vincent, Alexis Vitanza, Beverly Vu, Brittany Waddy, Jill Wade, Eliezer Wagner, Jill Waldman,
Candice Walker, Jackie Walker, Randal Walker, Sade Walker, Sienna Walker, Albert Wall, Ryan Wall, Peniniah Wallace, Ernesto Walsh, Meghan Walsh, Joy Wang, Nicholas Wanger, Shomari Ward, Cody Warner, Rosalyn
Warren, Agnieszka Was, Jerry Washington, Marie Washington, Roy Wasserman, Steven Wasserman, Laura Waters, Senora Watkins, Dalaise Watson, Joel Watson, Joshua Watson, Meggan Ways, Javious Weather,
Alison Webster, Jill Wechsler, Jamien Weddle, Jenny Weekes, Kafi Weekes, Carolyn Weeks, Miles Wehrung, Elizabeth Weiner, Hilary Weiss, Ronald Weiss, Susan Welber, Adrienne Wells, Kyla Wells, Zimei Weng, Mary
Werlwas, Benjamin West, Lorna West, Sara Weston-Shea, Johannes Wetzel, Mark Whalen, Candice Whatley, Takiya Wheeler, Andrew Whitcup, Francis White, Jane White, Katie White, Lois White, Thomas White,
Timothy White, Jeremy Whiteman, Lindsey Whyte, Jamila Wideman, Paul Wiener, Dale Wilker, Diana Wilks, Alix Willard, Edlyn Willer, Andrew Williams, Deborah Williams, Deborah Williams, Deirdre Williams, Donald
Williams, Ebonie Williams, Eric Williams, Gregory Williams, Imari Williams, John Williams, LaToya Williams, Lisa Williams, Tiffany Williams, Yanique Williams, Evan Willner, Ramon Willoughby, Victoria Willoughby,
John Wilson, Tyease Wilson, Nicholas Wiltsie, Felicia Winder, Emily Winograd Leonard, Angela Winston, Simone Winston, Genitha Wint, Kimberly Winther, Catherine Wise, Edmund Witter, Michael Wittman, Frank
Witty, Jason Wohlford, Guy Wolfe, Alexander Wolff, Andrea Wolff, Lauren Wolfinger, Elizabeth Wolozin, Cynthia Wolpert, Jennvine Wong, Kathryn Wood, Reda Woodcock, Makeysha Woodman, Latoya Woods, William
Woods, Susan Woodward, Deborah Wright, Emma Wright, Kahliah Wright, John Wroblewski, Jason Wu, Jin Wu, Catheranne Wyly, Boris Yankovich, Karen Yazmajian, Ho-Sang Nelson Yeung, Erin Yoeli, Kacy Sung Hyun
Yoo, Sarah Young, Michelle Younger, Rachel Younger, Susan Yousefi, William Yukstas, Amanda Zane, Mary Zaslofsky, Taylor Zelony, Michelle Zhang, Andrei Ziabkin, Marnie Zien

0-trueTypeLASannualReportCover.indd   30-trueTypeLASannualReportCover.indd   3 11/23/16   11:47 AM11/23/16   11:47 AM



The Legal Aid Society
199 Water Street, New York, NY   10038
Phone:  212-577-3300   
Fax:  212-509-8432
www.legal-aid.org

Printed on FSC certified paper

The Legal Aid Society

serves

In the Courtroom

In the Community

Across the City

and

Across the Nation

0-trueTypeLASannualReportCover.indd   40-trueTypeLASannualReportCover.indd   4 11/23/16   11:47 AM11/23/16   11:47 AM




